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GLOSSARY

AR5

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the ~ RAARFRA - X EDSEFAIEIN - THFA=ES

following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

“2021 AGM"”
[2021FRRAFKE

"AGD"
(SR EER |

“AGM"
[BRBFARE ]

“AGT"
[=ELAIR

“Articles of Association”

[#AAE=FZ4A0A ]

“Ascend”
[ Ascend ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEREE]

“Board”

[EF= ]
“business day”
[&%A]

"BVI”
[REBREZES ]

“CEO”
[T

“CG Code”
[{bEEAFA]

“Chairman”

[E/F ]
“Chit Tat”
[z

“close associates”

Exdc IN

TS °

the AGM to be held on Tuesday, 28 September 2021
152021569 A28 A (R = ) BT BF RE

Accel Development Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

SEMERRBRAR  ARANEERZENB QR

the annual general meeting of the Company

AABRRBFAR

Accel Innovations Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

SRAFAERAR - ARRNEEZENBAF

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
AATVAEEEZIRMAA - ETBHERT

Ascend Group Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Ascend Group Holdings Limited * ZNA B E 2 &M B A )

the audit committee of the Board

EFxgERLBYe

the board of Directors

=g

any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong) on which
licensed banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business

BERFBBBIT-RAPIZENEA A F (BN - EHBERBFBRRBARI)

the British Virgin Islands
RERUES

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRARITIRAREL

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
iR RIM S E e BT RIR B EEARSE

the chairman of the Board
EEXEERE

Chit Tat Electrical Engineering Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

REMETIRARAR - ARANBE2ANBLA

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE TR E



“code provision(s)”
[ =FBIES

“Company”
VNS

“Company Secretary”
[REWE ]

“connected person(s)”

[BEEAL

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 2R ARER
“Corresponding Year”
[ £ ]

“COVID-19"

[ 2 AR P8 S5 |

“Director(s)”

==

“Dr. Ko”

(=gt

YEQM”
[ 42 |

“Group” or “our” or "“Accel”

or “us” or "we"

[ ARSIkl AP ekl =t ]

“HK$" or “"HKD" or “HK cents”

BT skEl ]

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“INED(s)"
B IEITESR]

BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR

GLOSSARY =

code provision(s) as set out in the CG Code
1A T RIESI Y #) 57 RIMEST

Accel Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1283)
SREEZERERAR  KRRAEHSFTMAIANER DR - ERMHAE AT =M (kG
5% - 1283)

the company secretary of the Company

RRRNREWE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIRTE T AR R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and in the context of the
Company, means Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung and Lightspeed Limited, or any one of them

BB FARAFAE THRE - ARG EHESE LT - skt Klightspeed Limited -
SEFMEF—RAL

the year ended 31 March 2020
B ZE2020F3A31HILFE

the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a respiratory illness caused by a novel
coronavirus

2019 MARB AR L EMRBEER) - FHEEAE S 5 AT IR R GR R

the director(s) of the Company
NAFIESE

Dr. Ko Lai Hung, the Chairman, an executive Director, the CEO, one of the Controlling
Shareholders, the spouse of Ms. Cheung and the father of Mr. CK Ko

SREET  FFEBTES  THAH  ERBRRZ - RETZEBREEASL
R

electrical and mechanical

HE
the Company and its subsidiaries
RNAT REME AR

Hong Kong dollars or cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BFRAEEE BTGB

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
EE A RAFBEE AR NTRE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIFRITES
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“Listing”
[ b7

“Listing Date”
[ 7 B &)

“Listing Rules”
[ LR8N

“Main Board”

[

“Memorandum of Association”

[ 4 E A2 R4
“Model Code”
[1Z2E<F Al ]

“Mr. CK Ko"
[EEAERE]

“Ms. Cheung”
[R& |

“MVAC”
[ M E L I 22 SR A T

“Nomination Committee”

[fERZEE]

“Register of Members”

[RXER A A

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FMEZEE ]

[ &5 N HIE KA
“Share Offer”

[ E |

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
PR EMR £ T

18 October 2019, being the date of Listing
20194F10H18H + Bl L HER

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from
time to time

WP S EIARA R AT

the stock market operated by the Stock Exchange
B R FTEERIRE TS

the memorandum of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RNRABPEHERT VBB T IZ AL

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
AR AT SR PAES BT AN E S HETHE SR HHIRESTE

Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit, a non-executive Director and a son of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung

BEELE - FRTESESBLERLLZR T

Ms. Cheung Mei Lan, an executive Director, one of the Controlling Shareholders, the
spouse of Dr. Ko and the mother of Mr. CK Ko
REMUL  AITEF  FRREZ— ST 2REBRSEELENHER

mechanical ventilation and air-conditioning

MR E Nz RAFER

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeRw%Ee

the register of members of the Company

AABERAM

the remuneration committee of the Board
EESFHNEES

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

EERFLEEHEREZES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
BEREDIFESNEER L E D

200,000,000 Shares were issued at a price of HK$0.73 per Share by way of public offer
and placing of the Shares
BERARBEERREERS 27 L EFR0. 738 AEFEE17200,000,0008% 8% 15



“Share(s)”
[ &1

“Shareholder(s)”
[f&%ER

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 FfT )

“Year”

[AFE]
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GLOSSARY =

share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company

AR BAREAEEC.0VETT 2D

the holder(s) of Share(s)
B A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBMAERZMARAR

the year ended 31 March 2021
BZE2021F3A31HILFE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
IEME

RESULTS E 4
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMNALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20204 20194 20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT AT TET TET
Revenue WA 508,904 522,332 312,732 210,804 193,635
Profit before taxation BRI RTE R 86,462 88,255 56,262 43,250 36,761
Income tax expense Frig RS> (13,159) (15,600) (10,867) (7,181) (5,456)
Profit for the year AEEHEA 73,303 72,655 45,395 36,069 31,305
Profit attributable to equity ADAlEERE
shareholders of the Company ~ [E{5&FI 73,303 72,655 45,395 36,069 31,305
FINANCIAL POSITIONS B HEAR R
As at 31 March
W3A318
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20195 20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TET THET TET BT
Current assets REEE 436,502 304,028 137,903 139,193 183,279
Non-current assets FrReEE 30,105 63,194 12,445 9,545 2,939
Current liabilities EHAE 112,476 60,999 43,217 97,535 70,843
Non-current liabilities e eIl 1410 1,205 1,108 451 692
Net assets BEFE 352,721 305,018 106,023 50,752 114,683
Total equity attributable to equity A5 AJREZEATER
shareholders of the Company  JE{G =858 352,721 305,018 106,023 50,752 114,683
Total equity Ayt 352,721 305,018 106,023 50,752 114,683
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Accel Group Holdings Limited, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the Year.

Over the past year, the outbreak of COVID-19 has brought
significant challenges to the world, making the business
environment difficult and the local economy under increasing
downward pressure due to high unemployment rate. Despite this,
the Group’s professional project management capabilities in the
E&M industry and our long-term cooperative relationships with
customers minimised the impact of the outbreak on the Group. In
the past year, the Group maintained a cautiously optimistic attitude
in developing our business and we managed to secure a number of
large-scale E&M engineering services projects during and after the
Year, giving impetus to the Group's future development.

During the Year, the Group has been recognised as one of “Forbes
Asia’s 200 Best Under A Billion” and has been selected as a
constituent stock of the MSCI Hong Kong Micro Cap Index. For
our E&M business, we have received the Asia’s Most Prominent
Engineering (E&M) Company Award 2020 from MythFocus,
CORPHUB's Most Outstanding Electrical and Mechanical Engineering
Services Award 2020 and Elite Awards 2020-Star Electrical and
Mechanical Engineering Enterprise Award from Ming Pao Weekly for
our outstanding performance in the E&M industry. In the face of the
pandemic, the Group has maintained stability while seeking changes.
Our revenue for the Year was HK$508.9 million, approximately the
same as last year, while our profit for the Year increased to HK$73.3
million. In view of this, the Board recommended the payment of
a final dividend of HK cents 4.1 per share, slightly higher than the
HK cents 3.2 per share paid in the same period last year.

With our strengthened project cost control, continuous improvement
in our project quality management and active expansion of business,
we have been granted several E&M engineering services projects
during the Year. Further, our Group has obtained 9 projects with
a total contract sum of approximately HK$352.7 million for the
period after the Year and up to the date of this annual report. We
have also been engaging in active negotiations in respect of five
projects (with a total contract sum exceeding HK$500 million and
a higher chance to be accepted) that we submitted tenders for.
We will continue to make the most of our advantages and actively
participate in tendering, in order to lay a strong foundation for our
further growth.

EREE|E

HEBR

RAZRURERSHEERZERBRAREEE K
RREANEEAFENFERS

BE—F  HERBRE/ERGREALE
LERRRBIER  REXTSMREAMWEET
TN RIE - Gttt - AEBRERFINKE
BECEXAEEEREENMATFPZRMRTA
FRRERIEHARE I ERERE - BE—
F o AREREERLBREERER R
AIREFEARFERRERZARNIIKE TIRRS
HE  REERKRBRIABTS -

AEBNFRNLESRR  SEEREGED
Hr)eE M 200588 F T A /N ZE W0 1 4y AMSC
EBHARRIEE KGR - KEEE KR - #E
2 E 0 BRI EMythFocusHE 2£20204F 38 M
FERETR(EE) A FAE - CORPHUB 2020
FERHEDEE TIERGAERCARE T )REE
EMPERE020-E2MRMETRMEREL
XBBPNREIRBE S/ - YRS - K
SEERFEPRE - BMEAFRZE /508982
BT BEFMALY - MAFEEFRISREEES
733BEE T BAR  EETERIRTARE
G BERANEN - BEREFRBZ K325
fili o

AEB—EBRNMNBEHEERA  RALEE
B BREREFSHEMEIDRAFEER &
EWETZER - I - AEETRFLEARSE
AEEREANHEREANBEIEHZ52.7H
SHETHEIER - ML AEE HE5008
ERTEREM# SR /IE B BGRE o B
BeBERBERENMEAERFBENEN A
NEBMEBFERETHE 2 EM -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT &%

Corporate social responsibility was particularly important during the
pandemic in the Year. In pursuit of business development, the Group
also strives to maintain corporate social responsibility in order to give
back to the society. As a key player in the industry of the installation
of E&M systems, we carry the responsibility to protect the ecosystem,
and to ensure environmental protection while promoting growth
and development of the society. We endeavour to incorporate
energy saving technologies and renewable energy into E&M
systems to reduce carbon emissions, thereby making buildings more
environmentally-friendly and more comfortable. We will actively
look for partners to promote our plans for energy conservation and
emissions reduction in Hong Kong, and strive to attain carbon peak
and carbon neutrality targets and lay the foundation for the Group's
intelligent E&M business through utilising innovative technologies
and the concept of intelligent energy.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to send our heartfelt gratitude
to our Shareholders, customers, business partners and our
professional team for their support. | would also like to express my
sincere appreciation to our staff members for their commitment and
support. We will continue to move forward and seize opportunities
in today’s challenging environment in order to promote the
sustainable development of the Company and create maximum
value for our Shareholders.

Ko Lai Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

PEAEEINBE—FREFHLEEE - B
REBBRRFAFASE TN EREELEET
NERTE - FARERRTENEE 8§ R
BB RELRAFNEL  WERIRERER
MRE - RELEMREMBER - RIIBH KA
BERII AN A BARERBAKER G E T - /R
DR - SEEMEIRR - BEFE - HMKE
BERAEKHFRANE 2 EHERE LRI S -
BERAFRRREEMS - BUNEEHOER KX
RAEREAREEERERFE RS -

i ANBREREFES  BHHERAER &
F - ZBBHEREMERA TR BUAR
ZHHE  URROLBHAEEEEE L2 R
BTHAKEREN TS HRER - HMBE
DRSS FTmKBNREFREBI AL RE
Wit HBARBRBERR  ARFRAERAE
1A °

FE
[k 3

Ei& - 20216 A30H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established E&M engineering services provider, our
major business involves the supply, installation and maintenance
of MVAC systems, drainage systems, water supply, swimming pool
and fountain systems, electrical and control systems as well as
smart electrical control systems in buildings. We were engaged by
reputable property developers and construction companies in Hong
Kong to complete several iconic projects. We continue to strive to
provide excellent E&M engineering services to our customers.

Looking back over the past year, despite the mass outbreak
of COVID-19 which brought challenges to the global business
environment and has slowed down the global economy, the Group
maintained a stable financial position during the Year. Leveraging
on its professional project management capabilities and long-term
cooperative relationship with customers, the Group managed to
secure a number of large-scale E&M engineering services projects
during and after the Year. We will continue to make the most of our
advantages and actively participate in tendering, in order to lay a
strong foundation for our further growth.

BEEE WK DT

LR

REE R —HELEANKE TRRGHER -
IRXEBRHE - ZRRRERTGBRE K ZE R
ERZAE ~ BEKERL ~ UK - OB BB R -
EIMEBERRLETERICERE - AEEE
BEBELERRBAREEREAUTKS
ERRMEETIREHEB IR NEERTFIRHEE
BB TR -

EEEEN—F  BEHRHETRESRER
EMEBRIRTERLE - UBREIEERE - K
SERFADRFREORBORN © BREAKE
MEXRERERENMERP 2 RBAFRE
BARFARFEARDPIESZEAUKET
RIRBIAR - HABSRERSERLIZTER
AR  RAKBZEBERETRE L
EfE o

FINANCIAL REVIEW B % El g
Revenue g

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$13,428,000
or 2.6% to approximately HK$508,904,000 for the Year as
compared to approximately HK$522,332,000 for the Corresponding
Year. The slight decrease was mainly due to the fact that certain
newly awarded projects were in the early stage of their project
implementation phase.

Cost of services

7N & B Uz A & F R 49 522,332,000 0% JT R
4> #4913,428,000 8 T 2.6% = AR FE KL
508,904,000 7T - BRI EEHNE T
FEGBIEEENIEE BRI -

AR #5 A AN

For the year ended 31 March

11

BEIAZMBLEE
2021 2020
202145 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHET FHATT
Subcontracting fees e E 154,620 38.1% 152,071 37.4%
Cost of materials MR AR 178,679 44.0% 187,178 46.1%
Direct labour costs BELTIKA 60,262 14.8% 56,002 13.8%
Others Ef 12,741 3.1% 10,892 2.7%
Total 4=t 406,302 100.0% 406,143 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE51im N o1

The Group's cost of services mainly represented (i) cost of materials
including MVAC systems such as air conditioners and ventilation fans
and accessories such as pipes and fittings; and (ii) subcontracting
fees for completing on-site works. The cost of services slightly
increased by approximately HK$159,000 to approximately
HK$406,302,000 for the Year, as compared to approximately
HK$406,143,000 for the Corresponding Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately
HK$13,587,000 or 11.7% from approximately HK$116,189,000 for
the Corresponding Year to approximately HK$102,602,000 for the
Year.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased by 2% to 20.2% for
the Year as compared with the Corresponding Year of 22.2%. The
decrease in the gross profit margin was mainly due to the fact that
a substantial amount of revenue of the Year were recognised from
certain new projects commenced in the Year with a lower profit
margin.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, travelling
and transportation, rental and building management fee,
professional fee, office expenses, depreciation expenses and other
expenses. Administrative expenses increased from approximately
HK$22,097,000 for the Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$25,135,000 for the Year. The increase in administrative
expenses of the Group was mainly due to the increase in staff costs,
office expenses and depreciation expenses. The Group believes it
can increase its productivity to grasp the opportunities in the post-
pandemic era.

Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments decreased
by approximately HK$6,835,000 or 10.0% from approximately
HK$68,071,000 as at 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$61,236,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Trade receivables (net of allowance of credit losses) increased
by approximately HK$8,986,000 or 21.5% from approximately
HK$41,730,000 as at 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$50,716,000 as at 31 March 2021. The increase was due to
significant amount of revenue certified by the customers at the end
of the Year in accordance with the relevant projects’ construction
schedules.

REBRRSKNANEZIEOMERAE - BIEHEN
BRAERAHZES Pz - BERERB MU
LW E RS - R)TKRIBSIENDEE - ik
TSRk AN i 5 A EY 49406,143,00058 T EL L H1 4
159,000/ 7L 2 A4 [Z A9 49406,302,000/8 7T °

ENREFZE

AEENEFNBEFHEL 116,189,000 JT I
4> #913,587,000 T K 11 7% EARFE WL
102,602,000/ 7T ©

AEBMNEMEREFN22.2% I 2%ERF
JE#920.2% » EFERD T EZBRRRAFERH
YREYE T HIH B R S R EN R AR FEAF

DUES o

THEX

THRASZFEBFEEIRA  ZRERBE -
HMEeREFERE HEER HAZERX
WERSYEREMAS - THASXHEFNY
22,097,000 738 N 2= AR F EH#25,135,00078
TC o NEBMITHRASIEMNEZERRE THA -
MAEFRST RITEFRSILIMATE - NEBREE
e NE A E W AME B R IEFEBERRE R
P o

EZRHMERKIE - RERANKE
BREMEKRTE e RBANKER

20204 3 A 31 H 89 #768,071,000 /& 7T @ L 49
6,835,000 T8 10.0% £ 202143 A31HH4)
61,236,000/ 7T °

Z S EWGIE (IR E BB EE ) 20203 A
31 HAYA941,730,000,%8 JT 3 11498,986,000/%5 7T
8021.5% £ 202143 A31HH#)50,716,000 7
TL e BRI ARBEREFRNAFERIZEH
TRRIAREEER B ZE TR IEARIZ I
g( °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BIEEBi1 iR 2 Hr

Prepayments for purchase of materials and subcontracting
fees decreased by approximately HK$15,409,000 or 69.9%
from approximately HK$22,046,000 as at 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$6,637,000 as at 31 March 2021. The significant
decrease was mainly due to utilisation of prepayments to various
suppliers for our contract costs.

Contract assets and liabilities

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of E&M engineering services, which
arise when: (i) the Group completed the relevant services under
such contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers; and (ii) the customers
withheld certain certified amounts payable to the Group as retention
money (i.e. retention receivables) to secure the due performance of
the contracts. Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation
to transfer of E&M engineering services to customers for which the
Group has received advance payments from the customers.

Contract assets increased by approximately HK$43,480,000 or
37.8% from approximately HK$115,150,000 as at 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$158,630,000 as at 31 March 2021. The
increases in contract assets was mainly due to: (i) the increases in
retention receivables as a result of increases in number of ongoing
and completed contracts under the defects liability period during
the year; and (ii) changes in the size of contract works that the
relevant services were completed but yet been certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the customers at the
end of the reporting period.

Pledged bank balances and bank balances and
cash

The Group's pledged bank balances were to secure the grant of
performance bonds to the Group by a bank. The pledged bank
balances and bank balances and cash increased by approximately
HK$64,267,000 or 35.8% from approximately HK$179,593,000
as at 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$243,860,000 as at 31
March 2021.

The pledged bank balances and bank balances and cash were
denominated in HKD and were mainly generated from our daily
operations. With the strong financial position, the Group is able to
provide sufficient financial resources for our current commitments,
working capital requirements and further expansion of the Group’s
business, as and when required.
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EEELINBENRIBISIERT - P RT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B EiTim R o4

Trade and retention payables and accruals

Trade and retention payables and accruals increased by
approximately HK$31,784,000 or 65.0% from approximately
HK$48,899,000 as at 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$80,683,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Trade payables increased by approximately HK$33,429,000 or
126.2% from approximately HK$26,485,000 as at 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$59,914,000 as at 31 March 2021. The increase
was mainly due to the purchase of MVAC systems for projects
engaged near the end of the Year.

Retention payables decreased by approximately HK$2,082,000 or
14.2% from approximately HK$ 14,646,000 as at 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$12,564,000 as at 31 March 2021. The decrease
was mainly due to the release of retention monies to our sub-
contractors for projects completed within the Year.

Bank borrowings

%5%@%@&@1#1%@%2&&%#%

ZEoRMNFELENRESUAREGTEZHAH
20204 3 A 31 H # #4948,899,000 7 JT & hn 4J
31,784,00078 7T 8(65.0% 2202153 A31 HHAY
80,683,000 7T °

Z 5 e IEM202043 A31 HAY#26,485,000
FETTIE hN%)33,429,000/8 708 126.2% £ 2021 4F
3H31HH#%59,914,000/8 7T - AEEINEEH
LB T R PR ) IE B i B mcaE L 22 R
FENREFTER ©

JEHRE S 202093 831 BHHI%14,646,000/8
TCR > #72,082,0008 703, 14.2% £ 202143 A
31HH%)12,564,00087C - BEABLEEHR
HEANETHKIAE MM D EEARE SRR
gy °

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Trust receipts, secured Bt - BEA 10,000 -
Bank loans, secured RITER > AIEE 15,022 483
25,022 483

According to the relevant bank facilities letters, details of the bank
borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

RIFMERARITRE I - AEER2021F3A31
BRRITEEMNFBOT ¢

As at 31 March

M3A31A

2021 2020

20214 20204F

HK$'000 HK$’000

FTHET FAT

Within one year —FR 24,815 136
Within a period of more than one year —F LA BT RAMRF

but not exceeding two years AR 145 140
Within a period of more than two years MEIA HETNBBAF

but not exceeding five years HBRIA 62 207

25,022 483
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BIEEBi1 iR 2 Hr

The Group's trust receipts and bank loans as at 31 March 2021
(2020: a bank loan) were lent by a bank under its bank facilities
granted to the Group.

Notwithstanding the provisions stated in the aforesaid bank facilities,
the bank may at any time without prior notice, modify, cancel or
suspend the banking facilities, at the sole discretion of such bank;
including, without limitation, cancelling any unutilised facilities
and declaring any outstanding amount to be immediately due and
payable. Accordingly, the above trust receipts and bank loans were
classified as current liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Included in the bank loans as at 31 March 2021 was a bank loan
of HK$347,000 (2020: HK$483,000), which bore variable interest
rate at 2% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the
relevant bank (2020: variable interest rate at 2% per annum below
Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the relevant bank). The remaining
bank loan as at 31 March 2021 bore variable interest rate at 1.5%
per annum above one-month Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group will further expand its service capabilities and capture
business opportunities to reinforce its position in the E&M
engineering industry. The Group will provide customers with more
comprehensive E&M engineering services, increase its market
share with a prudent financial management strategy. As a result
of the continuous hard work by the management, the Group has
obtained 9 projects with a total contract sum of approximately
HK$352,723,000 for the period after the Year and up to the date
of this annual report. As at the date of this annual report, we have
been engaging in active negotiations in respect of 5 projects (with a
total contract sum exceeding HK$500,000,000 and a higher chance
to be accepted) that we submitted tenders for. Going forward, the
Group will continue to make the most of its advantages and actively
participate in tendering and ensuring stable growth of the Group's
business. At the same time, the Group will actively look for new
businesses opportunities and bring better returns to Shareholders.

AREER2021F3A31 B ETRIENIRITER
(2020%F : SR7TEF) v —MIRITREER T
AEFERRITREMED -

BE LRI EFIRAIRIE - RITATRERRERTE
MEAR B TSR - BUSSEERITH
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AIAREESBARRERER - Bt - 72021
F 202038310 - E{ErE IR RERTTE K
DEAREALS -

R2021F3A31HMRITERBE—HEETE
FX347,0007% 7T (20204 : 483,000 T) » %18
BIRTTATIR BB REZFIE 2% 07 B F 5 X
(20204 : R MARERITIRE B REEFER
2%HIFERE)FHE o 20213 A31 BHER R
TEFIEEBRTZEERE—EAZZFHFER
1.5%FT B -

RERBIR

REE HE —PIRARG L RICE R - 1
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TR - REBRAFE 1% EAF R A HE
MR A #4948 £ %8 49352,723,00078 7T 9 9{E 8
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500,000,0007% 7T B 1% 1% il i & 82 =5 /Y 18 B 1B 1%
TR - AEEGEBEERT D BHIEED - BIRRIRE
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As mentioned in the 2020 Policy Address, the Hong Kong
Government will continue to invest in infrastructure and make
efforts to reinvent the construction industry. The Group will seize
the business opportunities in the post-pandemic economy. Building
on its foundation in providing quality E&M engineering services,
the Group will strive to develop new businesses through adopting
multiple perspectives and multi-channel thinking. The Group will
venture into new businesses of innovation and technology, smart
technology, energy conservation and environmental protection,
and look for opportunities to participate in property development
projects. In addition, based on business development needs, the
Group will identify prospective business partners and joint venture
opportunities for different business segments to broaden the
Group's business scope and drive cross-border development, thereby
generating greater returns for the Shareholders.

In the field of innovation and technology, the Group will actively
promote the implementation of the framework agreement regarding
the establishment of “Joint Research and Development Laboratory”
with local universities, and implement various research product
designs as well as the application of technologies in areas such as
improvement of air quality, smart technology, energy conservation
and environmental protection, thereby generating greater business
opportunities for the Group's future operations.

In terms of environmental protection and energy conservation,
reducing carbon emissions and energy consumption has become a
global issue. Since the adoption of the “Paris Agreement” in 2015,
many countries have developed specific timelines and plans for
carbon neutrality, and the European Union has decided to legislate
on its commitment to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. The
Chinese government has already stipulated the targets in reaching
carbon peak in 2030 and carbon neutrality in 2060 in the 14th
Five-Year Plan. 2020 Policy Address also announced that Hong
Kong would strive to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 and would
update the “Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan”. As a key player
in the industry of the installation of E&M systems, we carry the
responsibility to protect the ecosystem, and to ensure environmental
protection while promoting growth and development of the society.
We endeavour to incorporate energy saving technologies and
renewable energy into E&M systems to reduce carbon emissions,
thereby making buildings more environmentally-friendly and more
comfortable. We will actively look for partners to promote our plans
for energy conservation and emissions reduction in Hong Kong, and
strive to attain carbon peak and carbon neutrality targets and lay
the foundation for the Group’s intelligent E&M business through
utilising innovative technologies and the concept of intelligent
energy.

HAN2020F e M E AR M - BB A E
REREWMANERIFEESE - AEEKIEH
MBREIGHEBERROEE - NEERETRE
RIS RIRE - FIFRAIFT RIS - 8 - #igE - B’IR
HMES  ARSHEE2EMERRIAR - 1%
AERE  ZREBBEBRAER - W A%
BTeREBERTE  STREBRREDES
EBRHEBREEREUNBEBAREEEBHE K
B E R - ABIR W RE W

ERFTRHR AR AR BEREERRES) EAR
REHARRIZI BB A BER=E ERRGSE &
EEAMNERRT LR EEREE - Bt
BigE - MRF I EMRMER - SEREARKES
HREAMEE -

IRIRENRE A » BIRETREE AN AR BRI ERE -
H2015FCERBTEIAR - EB ZEHIEHix+
B ZH ARG - BREIVRTE LADES
R BRREFI2050F B MR A BT &
#2030 F R iEE - 2060 F RPN BZESHE T
+OFEMEE - FE2020F BERE AE R
2050F AT BN WEIEBRIREITHE
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RN SEEVFRIR © FiTE - ROBEES
KA EKER RS2 EHERE RS - ER
BRI R BREM S - B ERGEE R
B2l AEESEMEERE NER -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B E

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group's working capital was financed by
internal resources, loan facilities from banks and the net proceeds
from the Share Offer. The current ratio of the Group, which is
calculated based on the current assets divided by current liabilities,
was approximately 3.88 times as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020:
approximately 4.98 times). The Group generally financed its daily
operations from cash flows generated internally.

FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of its
trade and retention payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, which is calculated based on the total
interest-bearing liabilities divided by the total equity (defined as
the sum of bank loans and lease liabilities as at the respective
year end divided by total equity as at the respective year end)
was approximately 5.5% as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020:
approximately 1.1%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group incurred cash outflows of approximately
HK$423,000 in leasehold improvements and furniture, fixtures
and equipment (Corresponding Year: HK$1,418,000 in leasehold
improvements, motor vehicles and furniture, fixtures and
equipment).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (31 March 2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, performance bonds of HK$83,587,000 (2020:
HK$49,972,000) were given by banks in favour of the Group's
customers as security for the due performance and observance of
the Group's obligations under the contracts entered into between
the Group and its customers.

Included in the performance bonds as at 31 March 2021 were
HK$57,442,000 (2020: HK$49,972,000), which were issued under
the bank facilities granted by a bank to the Group and such bank
facilities were secured by the Group’s pledged bank balances and
corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the bank.
The remaining performance bonds as at 31 March 2021 were issued
under the bank facilities granted by another bank to the Group and
such bank facilities were secured by the Group’s carpark space and
corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the bank.

BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &

Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events subsequent to the Year and up
to the date of this annual report which had materially affected the
Group's operations and financial performance (31 March 2020: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, certain motor vehicles, refundable rental
deposits, the carpark space and pledged bank balances of the Group
were pledged for the lease liabilities and the bank facilities (31
March 2020: secured by certain motor vehicles, refundable rental
deposits, the Group's carpark space, pledged bank balances and the
payments of life insurance policy).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, the Group did not have any significant investments,
material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, save as disclosed herein, the Group did not
have any other plans for significant investments or capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in HKD. The Group is not significantly
exposed to foreign currency risk arising from monetary assets
and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy as the foreign currency risk is considered to be insignificant.
However, the management will continue to closely monitor the
Group's foreign exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure when necessary.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 162 employees (31
March 2020: 159 employees) with total staff costs (including direct
labour costs) of approximately HK$75,739,000 incurred for the
Year (Corresponding Year: approximately HK$69,268,000). In
order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operation within the Group, the remuneration policy and package
of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed. The salary
and benefit levels of the employees of the Group are competitive
(with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications
and experience). The Group provides adequate job training to the
employees to equip them with practical knowledge and skills. Apart
from mandatory provident fund and job training programs, salaries
increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual performance
and market situation.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 18 September
2019 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants for their contributions or potential contributions to the
Group. Such scheme became effective on 18 October 2019.

CORPORATE RECOGNITION

During the Year, the Company has been recognised as one of
"Forbes Asia’s 200 Best Under A Billion” and has been selected as
a constituent stock of the MSCI Hong Kong Micro Cap Index. The
Group has also received the Asia’s Most Prominent Engineering
(E&M) Company Award 2020 from MythFocus, CORPHUB's
Most Outstanding Electrical and Mechanical Engineering Services
Award 2020 and Elite Awards 2020-Star Electrical and Mechanical
Engineering Enterprise Award from Ming Pao Weekly for its
outstanding performance in the E&M industry.

In the area of corporate social responsibility, the Group has received
the Asian Social Caring Leadership Award from the Community
Chest as well as the Outstanding Social Caring Organisation Award
from the Social Enterprise Research Academy. The Group has also
received the Corporate Environmental Leadership Award from the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries in recognition of the Group’s
performance in the field of energy conservation and environmental
protection. The Group will continue to improve its service quality,
adhere to the required safety and environmental standards, and take
our corporate social responsibilities commitment to the next level in
order to deliver excellent E&M services to our customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B EiTim R o4

COMPETING INTEREST BEER

During the Year, none of the Directors or the Controlling RANEE - HiES B iR R kil & 1 B2
Shareholders or their close associates was interested in any business 2 AR B sk M AL B E S ERFF X
which competed or might compete, either directly or indirectly, with ~ AJEEBRCERFHEBPHAER - EAEEE
the business of the Group nor had or might have with the Group XA 8B (AR5 @ ZE

any conflicts of interest.

USE OF PROCEEDS FrEFERAR

The net proceeds from the listing of the Shares on the Stock M R B X Fr E T W AT S R BEFE Y
Exchange were approximately HK$125,345,000. The net proceeds 125,345,000/t » FT8 B FREEIE AN B
have been utilised in the manner disclosed in the prospectus of the  HiA&20194F9A27 8 2 HREZERZME H A ENA °
Company dated 27 September 2019. Set out below is the actual use X &FIE £2021F3 A31 HFIBFUE FREER
of net proceeds up to 31 March 2021: R

Utilised net
proceeds
during the
Estimated period from the Net proceeds Utilised net  Unutilised net
proceeds  ListingDateto utilised during  proceedsupto  proceeds as at
Intended application allocation 31 March 2020 the Year  31March2021 31 March 2021

REHRBEZ
2020%3A31A BER201E 20215
13:]:: A REFEZ 383182 383182
fhEtFi EEAAE EBAAE EBAME ABAME

RELE REFE FEFE REFE HEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL FATL TATL BT TAL

Purchasing performance bonds B EE#IRES 43,120 43,120 - 43,120 -
MVAC procurement costs BHBERERASFEIA 59,290 20,803 38,487 59,290 -
Hiring additional staff HEET 11,660 1,007 7,714 8,721 2,939
General working capital —fhEEES 11,275 5,000 6,275 11,275 -
Total a5 125,345 69,930 52,476 122,406 2,939

As at the date of this annual report, the unutilised net proceeds of R ZAFHR B H - KRB ABAERNIEBEFED
approximately HK$2,939,000 had already been fully utilised based ~ 2,939,000/8 L E AR & _E il 7F A& BEUE A -
on the intended use as set out above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BIEEBi1 iR 2 Hr

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK cents 4.1 per Share (2020: HK cents 3.2 per Share)
for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members on Thursday, 7 October
2021, which amount to approximately HK$32,800,000 (2020:
HK$25,600,000). Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution
at the forthcoming 2021 AGM, the Final Dividend is expected to be
paid to the Shareholders on or around Friday, 29 October 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In relation to 2021 AGM

The Register of Members will be closed from Thursday, 23
September 2021 to Tuesday, 28 September 2021, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfers of Shares shall be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2021
AGM, all transfers of Shares, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for registration with
the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the
Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 21 September 2021.

In relation to the proposed Final Dividend

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the Final Dividend by the Shareholders at the 2021
AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 5
October 2021 to Thursday, 7 October 2021, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfers of Shares shall be effected. In order
to qualify for the Final Dividend, all transfers of Shares, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged
for registration with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 October 2021.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung (5% #), aged 51, is the founder of our Group,
the Chairman, an executive Director, our CEO and one of our
Controlling Shareholders. He joined our Group on 18 February 2000
and was appointed as a Director on 20 September 2018. Dr. Ko was
appointed as the Chairman and the CEO, and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 24 January 2019. He is also a member
of our Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He
is responsible for the overall strategic planning, management and
administration of our Group’s business operations. Dr. Ko is currently
a director of Ascend, AGT, AGD and Chit Tat. Dr. Ko is the spouse
of Ms. Cheung, an executive Director, and the father of Mr. CK Ko,
the non-executive Director. Dr. Ko is also a director and shareholder
of Lightspeed Limited, a Controlling Shareholder.

Dr. Ko obtained an honorary degree of doctor of business
administration from the Westcliff University in March 2021 in
recognising his managerial and professional experience in the E&M
engineering industry, as well as his community contribution.

Dr. Ko has accumulated over 30 years of experience in the E&M
engineering industry in Hong Kong. Prior to founding the Group,
he was the proprietor of Chit Tat Engineering Co, which was mainly
involved in the provision of electrical engineering services in Hong
Kong, from 1995 to 2006. With his extensive industry experience,
Dr. Ko founded, together with other industry players, Hong Kong
Air Conditioning Construction Association Limited (& 7 2= #8 & &%
7 2 A BR 2 7)), a non-profit-making organisation with a mission
of strengthening the connection and communication among air
conditioning contractors in Hong Kong in June 2018. He has been
leading the association as the president and one of the directors
of the association since founding the association. Chit Tat is also a
member of this association.

Ms. Cheung Mei Lan (58 % 8), aged 51, is an executive Director
and one of our Controlling Shareholders. She joined our Group on
18 February 2000 and was appointed as a Director on 20 September
2018. Ms. Cheung was re-designated as an executive Director on 24
January 2019. She is responsible for the overall strategic planning,
management and administration of our Group’s business operations.
Ms. Cheung is currently a director of Ascend and Chit Tat. She is the
spouse of Dr. Ko, an executive Director and the mother of Mr. CK
Ko, the non-executive Director. Ms. Cheung is also a director and
shareholder of Lightspeed Limited, a Controlling Shareholder.

Since the incorporation of Chit Tat, Ms. Cheung has accumulated
more than 18 years of experience in the E&M engineering industry
in Hong Kong. She has been a director of Chit Tat since 2000.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit (S5#t), aged 27, was appointed as the
non-executive Director on 24 January 2019. He is a member of our
Audit Committee. Mr. CK Ko is responsible for advising on business
development and planning of our Group. Mr. CK Ko is a son of Dr.
Ko and Ms. Cheung, both being executive Directors.

Mr. CK Ko graduated from the University of Rochester in the
United States with a master’s degree in finance and The University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in economics and finance
in December 2016 and November 2015, respectively. He became
a member of the Chartered Alternative Investment Analyst
Association in November 2017. Mr. CK Ko has been a SFC licensed
representative of Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities in Hong Kong since June 2018
and May 2020, respectively. He has been working in Bright Minds
Capital Limited since September 2017 and his current position is
assistant vice president. He founded Erth Limited, a start-up green
lifestyle company incorporated in Hong Kong in November 2017,
and has been a director of it since then.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (B & #Z) (“Mr. CT Chan"), aged 71, was
appointed as an INED on 18 September 2019. He is the chairperson
of our Nomination Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and our Remuneration Committee. Mr. CT Chan is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. CT Chan has over 32 years of work experience in the Inland
Revenue Department. His last position was assistant commissioner
before he retired in 2005. Mr. CT Chan graduated from the Central
Queensland University in Australia with a master’s degree in financial
management in October 1995 through distance learning. He has
been an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
of London, the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries) since March 1974 and August 1994,
respectively. Mr. CT Chan has also been a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (formerly known as the
Hong Kong Society of Accountants) since March 1986; a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known
as the Association of Certified Accountants) since November 1983;
and a fellow of CPA Australia (formerly known as the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants) since June 1990.
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Mr. CT Chan has been the sole director of C T Tax Consultants
Limited, a tax consultancy, since August 2006. Further, Mr. CT
Chan has been an independent non-executive director of Medicskin
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8307), Hyfusin Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8512), Chong Fai Jewellery Group Holdings
Company Limited (formerly known as Dominate Group Holdings
Company Limited) (Stock Code: 8537), Ye Xing Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1941) and Wasion Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3393) since December 2014, June 2018, September 2018,
February 2020 and June 2020, respectively. He was an independent
non-executive director of Guangdong Tannery Limited (Stock Code:
1058) from March 2006 to June 2020; Noble Jewelry Holdings
Limited (currently known as Central Development Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 475) from October 2006 to December 2011; Wasion
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3393) from May 2014 to May 2015;
and Man Sang International Limited (Stock Code: 938) from January
2015 to December 2016.

Ms. Tse Ka Wing (3% %8), aged 37, was appointed as an INED on
18 September 2019. She is the chairperson of our Audit Committee.
Ms. Tse is responsible for providing independent advice to our
Board.

Ms. Tse obtained an associate of business administration degree in
accountancy and a bachelor of business administration degree in
accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November
2004 and November 2006, respectively. She also obtained a master
of corporate governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in September 2018. She has been a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since November 2018.
In addition, Ms. Tse has been a member and a certified public
accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2011 and March 2014, respectively.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Tse has accumulated over 13 years
of financial and accounting experience. She worked as an auditor in
Andrew Tse & Company from September 2006 to February 2008.
Thereafter, she served BDO Limited for five years with her last
position as assistant manager (assurance) from February 2008 to
November 2013. In November 2013, Ms. Tse joined Union Honor
International Enterprise Limited as an assistant accounting manager,
and then worked in HKUE Limited from November 2014 to March
2016 with her last position as financial controller. Subsequently,
Ms. Tse served as the financial controller and company secretary at
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (Stock Code: 8023) from March
2016 to December 2017. Ms. Tse worked in Skyway United Limited
from March 2018 to January 2021 and her last position was
chief financial officer and company secretary. She joined YONXI
International Finance Holdings Limited on 1 February 2021 as a chief
financial officer and company secretary.
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Mr. Ho Chi Shing (/i & 8 ), aged 69, was appointed as an INED
on 18 September 2019. He is the chairperson of our Remuneration
Committee and a member of our Nomination Committee. Mr. Ho is
responsible for providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Ho graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
of science degree in engineering, a postgraduate diploma in software
engineering, a master of business administration and a postgraduate
certificate in laws in November 1976, January 1989, November 1991
and June 2011, respectively. He also obtained a graduate diploma
in English and Hong Kong law (common professional examination)
and a bachelor of laws from The Manchester Metropolitan University
in July 2008 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Ho was admitted as a
member of the Institution of Electrical Engineers in November 1981.
He has been: (i) a Chartered Engineer of the Council of Engineering
Institutions since February 1982; (ii) a member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers since July 1985; and (iii) a member of the
Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers (formerly known
as the Chartered Institution of Building Services) since April 1982
and a fellow of it since March 2004. He practised as a Barrister-at-
law from October 2012 to December 2014.

Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong. He worked in China Light & Power Company Limited
from September 1976 to October 1979 with his last position as
a second engineer of the sub-station design department. He had
served the Hong Kong Housing Authority for about 32 years from
October 1979 to September 2011 with his last position held as the
chief building services engineer. He had been an honorary advisor
for Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
Company Limited from October 2011 to October 2016. Mr. Ho
became a member of the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency’s
governing council in 2005, and was appointed as deputy chairman
in November 2011 and chairman in November 2019. Mr. Ho has
been working at BEAM Society Limited as a general manager since
March 2014. He had been appointed as a part-time lecturer of
Tsinghua Research Institute Shenzhen from 2011 to 2016, and he
also served in Shenzhen Audencia Business School in 2018 as part-
time lecturer. He is currently an Adjunct Associate Professor of The
University of Hong Kong, a post he took up since 2019 after serving
as an honorary principal lecturer since mid-2010’s in the Department
of Electrical and Electronic Engineering of The University of Hong
Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Tak Sun Sammy (FR1518), aged 57, is our chief financial
officer and Company Secretary. He joined our Group in September
2018 and is responsible for overseeing our Group’s financial
operations and the overall corporate governance of our Group.

Mr. Chan obtained a master degree of business administration from
The Open University of Hong Kong in June 2006 and a professional
diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November
1988. He has been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since March 1997 and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 1993. Mr. Chan has accumulated more than 20 years of
experience in the finance industry.

Mr. Lam Ka Tak (#R2R18), aged 52, is a project director of our Group.
He joined our Group in December 2015 as a project manager and
was subsequently promoted to senior project manager and project
director in February 2017 and January 2019, respectively. Mr. Lam
is primarily responsible for the overall management of our Group’s
E&M engineering projects.

Mr. Lam obtained a higher diploma in mechanical engineering from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1994. He has over 20 years of
experience in the construction industry. Before joining our Group,
Mr. Lam worked in Kervin Engineering Co., Ltd. from October 1993
to November 2012 with his last position held as project manager.
He also served as the project manager of Pyrofoe Air-Conditioning &
Electrical Co., Ltd. from December 2012 to October 2015.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
69 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK cents 4.1 per Share for the Year to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Thursday,
7 October 2021, amounting to approximately HK$32,800,000
(2020: HK cents 3.2 per Share, amounting to approximately
HK$25,600,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and
the discussion on the Group’s future business development are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, and the descriptions
of key financial performance indicators are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements. There was no significant
event affecting the Group that occurred since the end of the Year
and up to the date of this annual report which had materially
affected the Group’s operations and financial performance.
In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationships with key
stakeholders, environmental policies and performance, compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group and the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group are as follows:

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group's success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
subcontractors and suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of the
Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource management is
to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate trainings and by
providing opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR

DIRECTORS" REPORT
EEERE

EFEEMARRE
BMBEE -
FTEXK
ARAR—FRERERAR - AMBARNER
EBENERE M B RAM 32 -

ZNGIERN SRS EE 2 P

RERDE

AEBARFENREHRANFREOANGS
BaMlEMEERER -

BEERBEEHMN2021F10A78 (25M)
51| BSR4 A0 A% BRIR B AN AF TS R HRRR BRI

41740 - A /é%ﬁi@%ﬂsooooo,’ém(zozo
F 3281 - £HE284 525,600,000
JT) °

¥KEEE
K%Kﬁrﬁ%%%@%ﬁ&iﬁ*%%%&@%ﬂ
;ﬁiWiﬁi&%%J&Wﬂﬁ‘ DITIE
CIMEBMBRREZAEREREE TR R
7FJTJ*ED c REEMI KRR EE B ERECR
HRGAYHBRERME - BERFERNEE
WEAFEAEBMOKE R ERIRHANFRA
HAIE - SRR AT EREENEASM - 1N
ZSE@EEQEI;J%T EMEERE RERELE
HAEEREAFEMNERERIERNE
| WA R AR EE A E ZRE R M TRFRARE =
E’JEQ fgnw

HEIBEFHENBR
REBNKDTEENEIEZRHNE (BREEER
BEFEAED B R ERE) SR -

==

BEEASEEENABENEE - AEEAN
BREENBRINEBREHAEF NOFHIEGE
KT E RRMBEMEZHIE - AR & 5RT
FKARMMBT » WEBEZNEIIREHES
BB TEASBANEREENETT

27



28

Accel Group Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEE &

Customers

The Group’s principal customers are property developers and
construction companies in Hong Kong. The Group provides
professional and quality services in supply, installation and
maintenance of MVAC systems, whilst maintaining long term
profitability, business and asset growth.

Subcontractors and suppliers

The Group firmly believes that its subcontractors and suppliers
are equally important in cost control and increasing its bargaining
power on procurement of materials, which further secures its
competitiveness when bidding for tenders. The Group proactively
communicates with its subcontractors and suppliers to ensure
that they are committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable
products and services. Unless the customers require the Group to
engage subcontractors and suppliers nominated by them, the Group
will select subcontractors and suppliers from its approved lists of
subcontractors and suppliers. In addition, during the continuance
of the contracts with the subcontractors, the Group will provide
them with its internal guidelines on safety and environmental issues
and require them to follow. The Group effectively implements the
subcontractor assessment process to monitor the performance of its
subcontractors by conducting regular site visits, evaluation on the
performance of the contract and other measures.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group believes that its business also depends on its ability
to meet the customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality
and environmental aspects. To meet the aforesaid requirements,
the Group has established safety, quality and environmental
management systems. Through the systematic and effective control
of its operations, compliance with safety, quality and environmental
requirements can be further assured. The environmental policies
and performance of the Group during the Year will be disclosed in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company,
which will be published on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website within three months from the publication of this
annual report.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group mainly undertakes E&M engineering services in Hong
Kong, the Directors confirmed that during the Year, the Group
had obtained all the registrations and certifications required for its
business and operations and had complied with the applicable laws
and regulations in Hong Kong, in all material respects.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the
Group may affect the Group’s financial position and prospects. The
Group has been focusing on the control of risks and uncertainties
with the aim of understanding and addressing the concerns of
stakeholders. Key risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are
listed below:

- the revenue is mainly derived from E&M engineering projects
which are non-recurrent in nature and any failure of our
Group to secure new projects would affect our operations and
financial results;

- error or inaccurate estimation of project execution timeframe
or project costs may result in cost overruns and may adversely
affect our revenue and profitability;

- reliance on the major customers;

- the revenue and profit margin are subject to fluctuations
driven by various factors such as variation orders and the
recoverability of contract assets, and the past revenue and
profit margin may not be indicative of our future financial
performance; and

- may not be able to bill and receive the full amount of trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets, if
progress payment or retention money is not paid in full and on
time, the liquidity position may be adversely affected.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 8 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the applicable laws and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$231,196,000 (including share premium
available for distribution amounting to HK$195,606,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 71 of this annual report and note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Ko Lai Hung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing
Mr. Ho Chi Shing

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, Ms. Tse Ka Wing and Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit shall
retire at the 2021 AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for
re-election.

Information regarding the Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

For details of the Directors’ profiles, please see the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the
information of the Directors since the date of the 2020 interim
report of the Company required to be disclosed in this annual report
are as follows:

Dr. Ko obtained an honorary degree of doctor of business
administration from the Westcliff University in March 2021 in
recognising his managerial and professional experience in the E&M
engineering industry, as well as his community contribution.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and has duly reviewed the confirmation of
independence of each of the INEDs. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers that all of the INEDs continue to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company with an initial term of 3 years, commencing from
18 September 2019. None of the Directors who are proposed for
election or re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be (a) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO; or (c) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in the Shares
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity Nature of interests Shares held  shareholding
EEgE 51 ERMtE FrsRA A E=1:0de )
Dr. Ko (Note) Interest in controlled corporation Corporate interest 600,000,000 75%
=i (M) REthEEER EE S 600,000,000 75%
Ms. Cheung (Note) Interest of spouse Family interest 600,000,000 75%
sRA+ (PHEE) [IRRiEE e 600,000,000 75%

Note: The 600,000,000 Shares are held by Lightspeed Limited
("Lightspeed”), which is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko
and 30% by Ms. Cheung. Under the SFO, Dr. Ko is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Lightspeed and Ms. Cheung, spouse
of Dr. Ko, is deemed to be interested in the Shares deemed to be held
by Dr. Ko.
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Long position in the ordinary shares of an
associated corporation

Name of
associated

RAEBEE 2 EBRNER

Number of Percentage of

Name of Directors  corporation Capacity Nature of interests shares held shareholding
iR HEEEEE 56 BmE PR 2 B =]
Dr. Ko (Note) Lightspeed Beneficial owner and interest  Personal interest and family 200 100%
of spouse interest
miET(FE) Lightspeed BakA AR BER BAES R R kR 200 100%
Ms. Cheung (Note) Lightspeed Beneficial owner and interest  Personal interest and family 200 100%
of spouse interest
Rt (FifaE) Lightspeed BakA AR BER (EUNG ey eV 200 100%
Note: Lightspeed is the holding company of the Company and is an  HfF : Lightspeed A7 A &) 2 % Q”Aj&%%&,ﬁﬂﬁif%
associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. P EEXVELFT SR TE B AR = 2 nghtspeedEEHTﬁ
Lightspeed is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms. TREZT(SEL2RB) DI EREET0%
Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, respectively. }%30%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be (a) notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
(b) recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as our Directors are aware, the
following entity(ies) which/person(s) (other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company) who had, or were taken or deemed
to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the Shares
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Nature of Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity interests Shares held  shareholding
RERAMR 56 EEME FERHEE REBD L
Lightspeed (Note) Beneficial owner Personal interest 600,000,000 75%
Lightspeed (Fff7E) EnEEA (BN 600,000,000 75%

Note: Lightspeed is beneficially owned as to 70% by Dr. Ko and 30% by Ms.
Cheung, spouse of Dr. Ko, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company had
not been notified by any other entity(ies) which/person(s) (other than
a Director or the chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
of the Company was approved for adoption pursuant to a written
resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 18 September
2019 for the purpose of providing an incentive or reward to the
eligible participants for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries. The Board is entitled at
any time and from time to time grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to any full-time or part-time employees, consultants
or potential employees, consultants, executives or officers (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors) of our Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents, advisers, business
partner or service providers who, in the sole opinion of our Board
has contributed or will contribute to the Company and/or any of
its subsidiaries. The Directors were authorised to grant options to
subscribe for Shares and to allot, issue and deal with the Shares
pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and to take all such steps as may be necessary and/or
desirable to implement and give effect to the Share Option Scheme.
The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other
share option schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme and the Share Option
Scheme limit is 80,000,000 Shares, which represented 10% of the
issued Shares as at the date of this annual report. The Share Option
Scheme shall remain valid and effective until the tenth anniversary of
the Listing Date.

Unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general meeting,
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted to an eligible participant under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue within any 12-month period.
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
required to be approved by the INEDs. Unless otherwise approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules, the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and proposed to be
granted to a substantial shareholder or any INEDs or their respective
associates under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) shall not (i) exceed 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and (ii) have an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000, within
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant.
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The Board may, at its discretion, determine the minimum period
for which the option has to be held before it can be exercised, and
the period during which an option may be exercised. However, no
options shall be exercised ten years after they have been granted.
The subscription price of a Share in respect of a particular option
shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of
the grant of the option, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.

An offer shall be made to any eligible participants of the Share
Option Scheme by an offer document in such form as our Board may
from time to time determine, requiring such participant to undertake
to hold the option on the terms on which it is to be granted and to
be bound by the provisions of the Share Option Scheme. To accept
any options granted by the Company, the grantee is required to pay
a consideration of HK$1 on or before the last day of acceptance set
out in the relevant offer document.

Since the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to the date of this annual report, no share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year or as at 31 March 2021 was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none
of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18,
had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
(i) there was no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year; and (ii) there
was no other contracts of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into by the Group or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates had any interests in a
business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or
may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group or has any other conflict of interest with the Group which
would be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

Non-competition undertaking

In order to avoid any possible future competition between the Group
and each of the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling
Shareholders as a covenantor (the “Covenantor”) has executed a
deed of non-competition (the “Deed”) in favour of the Company
(for itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to
which, each of the Covenantors undertakes, inter alia, that it/he/she
will not, and will use its/his/her best endeavours to procure, its/his/
her close associates (other than any member of the Group) not to,
whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, participate
in or engage in any business which, directly or indirectly, competes
or may compete with the Group's business. For details, please refer
to the prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2019.
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Each of the Covenantors has confirmed to the Company that he/she/
it has complied with the non-competition undertakings under the
Deed during the Year. The INEDs have reviewed on their compliance
with the Deed and confirmed that (i) they were not aware of any
non-compliance of the non-competition undertakings under the
Deed by each of the Covenantors; and (ii) such undertakings had
been duly enforced and complied with by each of the Covenantors
during the Year.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If
the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for its Directors and officers. The relevant
provisions in the Articles of Association were in force during the
Year and as at the date of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set
up by the Board upon the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emolument of the Directors are determined by the
Board based on recommendation of the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive
to eligible persons, details of which are set out under the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit schemes are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association or
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$60,000 (2020: HK$1.5 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for 65.6% of the Group'’s
total revenue and the revenue from its largest customer accounted
for 29.6% of its total revenue.

In addition, the Group's purchases attributable to its five largest
suppliers accounted for 71.1% of the Group’s total purchases and
the purchases from its largest supplier accounted for 39.4% of its
total purchases.

During the Year, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best of the knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any
interests in any of the Group's five largest customers or the Group'’s
five largest suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any Shares during the Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of corporate governance report are set out on pages 43 to
60 of this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the independent
auditor engaged by the Group, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer itself for re-appointment at the 2021 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Ko Lai Hung

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group has conducted the following continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Employment agreements between Chit Tat and
connected employees

Chit Tat continues to employ certain employees who are connected
persons of the Company following the Listing.

Prior to Listing, on 10 September 2019, Mr. Cheung Choi On, Mr.
Wong Kai Chau, Mr. Chow Kin To, Ms. Ko Karlie, Mr. Wong Hau
Wai, Ms. Wong Hoi Yan and Ms. Wong Hoi Ki (all being connected
persons of the Company) (the “Connected Employees”)
respectively entered into a supplemental written employment
contract (for amending his/her then existing employment contract)
(the "Connected Employee Employment Contracts”) with Chit
Tat for a term of three years upon Listing.

The Connected Employees are either siblings or relatives of the three
Directors, Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung and Mr. CK Ko. The details of their
relationships with the Directors are set out as follows:

Name Connected relationship
=L BERR

Mr. Cheung Choi On

RAERTEE

Mr. Wong Kai Chau
CK Ko.

ERAEASE

Mr. Chow Kin To (Note)

JE3R R e A (BT aE)

Ms. Ko Karlie

=BTt

Mr. Wong Hau Wai

"RERE

Ms. Wong Hoi Yan

\mELAR LT

Ms. Wong Hoi Ki

=EHL L

Note: Mr. Chow Kin To is no longer an employee of Chit Tat. His
employment contract with Chit Tat was terminated on 6 February
2021.
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Mr. Cheung Choi On is a brother of Ms. Cheung, a brother-in-law of Dr. Ko
and an uncle of Mr. CK Ko.
REREERRRLTZIN,/H  SEL 2R BRSEELEZRA -

Mr. Wong Kai Chau is a brother-in-law of Ms. Cheung and an uncle of Mr.

BRELRERRZLTZAN BREEHEEEZRIA -

Mr. Chow Kin To is a nephew of Dr. Ko and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
ERBEERSBLZER IMNERSEEREZRL S -

Ms. Ko Karlie is a niece of Dr. Ko and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
BREBZTREELT B IMERREEGEEZ Ei K o

Mr. Wong Hau Wai is a nephew of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
BREAERRRIZER IMNERSEETREZRL B -

Ms. Wong Hoi Yan is a niece of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
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Ms. Wong Hoi Ki is a niece of Ms. Cheung and a cousin of Mr. CK Ko.
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Each of the Connected Employees is a connected person of the
Company. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the
Connected Employee Employment Contracts constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As (i) the Connected Employees are either siblings or
relatives of the three Directors, Ms. Cheung, Dr. Ko and Mr. CK
Ko; and (ii) the nature of the Connected Employee Employment
Contracts are the same, such transactions shall be aggregated in
accordance with Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcement (the “Announcement”) published
by the Company dated 30 March 2021, the annual caps for the two
years ending 31 March 2022 were revised by the Board, in which the
aggregate remuneration being awarded to the Connected Employees
under the Connected Employee Employment Contracts should not
exceed (i) HK$3,320,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021; and (ii)
HK$3,500,000 for the year ending 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate remuneration
(including salaries and allowances, discretionary bonus and
retirement benefit scheme contributions) payable by the Group
to the Connected Employees under the Connected Employee
Employment Contracts amounted to approximately HK$3,302,000.

All the INEDs have reviewed in July 2021 the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions were
entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the respective agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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With reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
auditor has confirmed in July 2021 in their letter to the Board that
nothing has come to their attention which caused them to believe
that such continuing connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(i)  the aggregate amount paid by the Group in respect of such
continuing connected transactions has exceeded the annual
cap for the year ended 31 March 2021 as disclosed in the
Announcement.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange in accordance with Rule 14A.57 of the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group's related party transactions are disclosed in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save and except (i) the transactions specified in note 29(a)(i) and (iv);
and (ii) the remuneration of the senior management members of
the Group forming part of the “Compensation of key management
personnel” described in note 29(b), all other transactions stated
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Group.

The transaction described in note 29(a)(v) to the consolidated
financial statements refers to the continuing connected transactions
regarding the Connected Employee Employment Contracts as
disclosed above in this section. Save as aforesaid, all other connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions disclosed in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements are fully exempt from
reporting, annual review, announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rules 14A.76(1), 14A.90
and 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group as
disclosed in this report.
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The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ values
through good corporate governance. The Directors recognise the
importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance
in the management structures, internal control and risk management
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in this report, has
complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company made specific enquiry of all Directors and they confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual
report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but are not limited to formulating
the Group’s business and investment plans and strategies, deciding
all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the
Group’s corporate governance practices and all other functions
reserved to the Board under the Memorandum of Association
and Articles of Association. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The
responsibilities of these Board committees include monitoring the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that
appropriate internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to
the management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
other duties assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense.

ERERME

AABHARBITHERRBENEL - A&
BRECEELRMRERRESRREE EER
5 RERAMEE  BREGEERTEMAA
REEERRE - AEEEREREERRF T+

DER-

ERERER
RAEE - AR TERMILBT LG TR
BRI T A - MR RS PR R

RERSTRISTRESIA 2. 18RS

ESETHESRRS
ARRDHRMFELETR - FREARGEEESRHE
TEFRHNITRTH - RARREESEHA
BEAMBSOER  BRERAFEANELFR
AHI—EETIRETRIMENRERE -

EEg

BT

EEe T 2R ERENEEASEEH L ER
RNEE - EEEREAKENEBRITE - #
RANER B ERE B R BB R AT AT
BRXIE - EFERITHBE /ARG
REBHEG MBI MR REMBEX
MB(BRERBEASH)REESE  #l7] - &
ZRRAARERNEREGER - URRBAR
BERAMMARERAMNREESTSNMA R
B - EFQCRUZEESFERE S - Y AT
EFEeR B REXEREREMENTRE
T -REEFZEENATEREEARENE
BREBRE - URBRETEEEWAIEER
RRERRS EBFSATRHEERREZNE
AEBRAAEEERERKE TREE - ERE
TEABRNTRKEESRMNESE  BER
BERAR TR ERNEMBE -

EF2HEBASENER - MEEEAEY
RiMESRERSER  RERLARITER
T BEFAREEERR MTEELERER
ERBARRFIE -

43



44

Accel Group Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ &85 &

Composition

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-
executive Director and INEDs so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the
following six Directors, of which the INEDs in aggregate represent
50% of the Board members:

Executive Directors
Dr. Ko Lai Hung (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Cheung Mei Lan

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit

INEDs

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Tse Ka Wing

Mr. Ho Chi Shing

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

Dr. Ko, the Chairman, an executive Director and the CEQ, is the
spouse of Ms. Cheung who is an executive Director. Dr. Ko and Ms.
Cheung are the parents of Mr. CK Ko, the non-executive Director.
Save as disclosed above, there was no financial, business, family or
other material relationship among the Directors during the Year.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Year, the Company had three INEDs, meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at
least three INEDs and the number of INEDs must represent at least
one-third of the Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company's
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
other legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s business
and governance policies.

The Company will from time to time fund and arrange suitable
training to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide
the Company with their training records. According to the training
records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely Dr. Ko,
Ms. Cheung, Mr. CK Ko, Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, Ms. Tse Ka Wing
and Mr. Ho Chi Shing, had participated in continuous professional
development during the Year by reading newspapers, journals
and updates relating to the economy, general business, corporate
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities and/or
attending training sessions organised by professional bodies in Hong
Kong.

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice will be given in a
reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include any
matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution at
the Board meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers will be
sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of
the Board meeting, or such other period as agreed. The Company
Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the Board meetings’ minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for their comment and record respectively
within a reasonable time after each Board meeting and the final
version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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The Board held seven meetings during the Year and, amongst other
matters, considered and approved the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the six months ended 30 September 2020.

One general meeting of the Company was held during the Year.

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the
general meeting held during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

Dr. Ko SN
Ms. Cheung SR+
Mr. CK Ko SIEEEL
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESE
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALL
Mr. Ho Chi Shing AT E

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a policy relating to Board diversity and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the same.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All the
appointments of the Board members shall be based on the positive
contribution to be brought by the proposed candidate to the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its affiliated companies. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Ko is the Chairman and the
CEO. He has been managing the Group’s business and supervising
the overall operations of the Group since 2000. The Board considers
that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO in Dr. Ko is
beneficial to the management and business development of the
Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership to the
Group. The Board has a total of six Directors and three of them are
INEDs who are qualified professionals and/or experienced individuals.
As all major decisions are made in consultation with all the Board
members who meet on a regularly basis to review the operations of
the Group, and shall be approved by majority approval of the Board,
with the three INEDs on the Board scrutinising important decisions
and offering independent perspectives, the Board believes that
there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance
of powers within the Board. The Board will continue to review
and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO at a
time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 18 September 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are published on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Audit Committee comprises two INEDs, namely Ms. Tse Ka
Wing and Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, and the non-executive Director Mr.
CK Ko. Ms. Tse is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include
but are not limited to:

®  making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and handling any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

®  reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

e discussing with the auditors the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

e developing and implementing a policy on the engagement of
an external auditor to supply non-audit services;

e monitoring the integrity of the Group's financial statements,
annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

e discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with the Company’s management to ensure that management
has performed its duty to have effective systems. This
discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function;

e reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices; and

e reviewing arrangements employees of the Group can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and,
amongst other matters, considered and approved for presentation
to the Board for consideration and approval the draft audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020 and the draft unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2020, as well as reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.
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The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Audit Committee at the meetings held during the Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALT
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESAE
Mr. CK Ko SN S e

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 18 September
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are published on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
comprises two INEDs, namely Mr. Ho Chi Shing and Mr. Chan
Cheong Tat, and an executive Director Dr. Ko. Mr. Ho is the
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

e making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a remuneration policy;

e reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’'s corporate goals and
objectives;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

e making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors; and

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held
and, amongst other matters, made recommendations to the Board
on (i) the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management; and (i) the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs).
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The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Remuneration Committee at the meetings held during the Year is as
follows:

Name of Directors

Mr. Ho Chi Shing AL E
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESE
Dr. Ko SiET

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 18 September 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs, namely
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat and Mr. Ho Chi Shing, and an executive
Director, Dr. Ko. Mr. Chan is the chairperson of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background
or professional experience) of the Board at least annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group's corporate strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

e assessing the independence of the INEDs and reviewing
the INEDs' annual confirmations on their independence,
and making disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company;

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive of
the Group; and

e reviewing the Board diversity policy periodically and making
disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report of the Company annually.
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During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held and,
amongst other matters, (i) reviewed the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed the independence of
the INEDs; and (iii) reviewed and made recommendation on the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM held on
23 September 2020.

The attendance of each Director in the capacity of a member of the
Nomination Committee at the meeting held during the Year is as
follows:

Name of Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESAE
Mr. Ho Chi Shing RS-
Dr. Ko [S1i .

Nomination Policy
Nomination Procedures

)

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a
meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting.

Shareholders may also nominate a person to stand for election as
a Director at a general meeting in accordance with the Articles of
Association and applicable laws and regulations. The procedures for
such proposal are posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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BERE

R ZEEMEREEANMAEZTERENZRE
ETMESSRENEFLEREN  REEEE
BZERERFGERREANABELE - BFE(E

Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider

a variety of factors including without limitation the following in R )IAT&IE
assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:
(@)  reputation for integrity; (@) Bz

(b)

(9)

accomplishment, experience and reputation in the E&M
engineering industry and other relevant sectors;

commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company'’s business;

diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and experience;

the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company's success;

compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an
INED; and

any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions as set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code, which include:

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

(9)
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 18 September 2019. Each of the INEDs and the non-executive
Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 18 September
2019.

None of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement
by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association. At each
AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
obtain the number required) any Director who wishes to retire and
not to offer himself/herself for re-election. Any further Directors so
to retire shall be those who have been the longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day,
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM
and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Year are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for the
Year by band is set out below:

FrNEE (LB TEr)

Remuneration band (in HK$)

Nil to 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 1,500,000

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was engaged as
the Group’s independent auditor.

Z 21,000,000
1,000,001%1,500,000

The remuneration paid/payable to Deloitte for audit and non-audit
services in respect of the Year is set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Bt E

HK$'000

Services FET

Audit services — Annual audit FiT RS — FEER 800
Non-audit services IEEAT RS

— Tax services fee — BB REE 52

— Other services —HA R 150

Total @5t 1,002

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, Deloitte has stated in the independent auditor’s report
its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems. The Board
acknowledges that such risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risks
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The Group has established an enterprise risk management
policy in order to provide sound and effective risk management.
This sets out a framework for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of the Group’s key risks,
with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group’s overall
strategic objectives. The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.

In view of the Group'’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems, the Board has engaged an independent consultant firm
to execute the internal audit function. Independent consultant
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and financial reporting procedures, systems and
control for the Year in accordance with the requirements under
code provision C.2 of the CG Code, according to the scope of
review agreed and approved by the Audit Committee. The reports
issued by the independent consultant firm were reviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board and no major issue was raised for
improvement.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational, strategic and compliance controls and has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Board considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be performed
annually.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by
the SFC in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the chief financial officer of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Tak Sun Sammy (“Mr. Sammy Chan"”) was appointed as
the Company Secretary with effect from 24 January 2019.

Mr. Sammy Chan has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

All members of the Board can have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. The appointment and removal of the
Company Secretary has been/will be subject to the Board's approval.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are welcome to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meeting. Proposals may be sent to the
Board or the Company Secretary by written requisition. Shareholders
who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may, however,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM") in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the "Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition, including making proposals or
moving a resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholder(s) who wish(es) to convene an EGM for the
purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM
must deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name(s) of the Requisitionist(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order, the Company Secretary will
ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include the proposal(s)
made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in order, the
Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome and accordingly,
the Board or the Company Secretary will not call for an EGM nor
include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the
Requisitionist(s) at the EGM.
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If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board or
the Company Secretary fails to proceed to convene an EGM, the
Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the Company Secretary to
convene the EGM shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
or their notification of change of correspondence address or their
dividend/distribution instructions to the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by post to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Unit No. 6, 27th Floor, “909 Cheung Sha Wan Road”,
No. 909 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward
the communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive
Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility
to the chairperson of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matter, such as suggestions, enquiries and
customer complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that in recommending or
declaring dividends and has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the

Group when considering the declaration or recommendation of

dividends:

(@)  earnings and financial condition;

(b) financial results;

(c)  cash flow situation;

(d)  business conditions and strategies;

(e)  future operations requirements;

(f)  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(9) interests of Shareholders;

(h)  the general economic and political conditions and other
external factors that may have an impact on the future
business and financial performance of the Group;

(i) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

() any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the

conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed

and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

(@) interim dividend;

(b) final dividend;

(c)  special dividend; and

(d) any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR

RS

B EBUER

REZHERBEE EFSCHRAREBER -
BRBEBERAM LEMERRARIA LB E
REEER R TIIERNBRE -  EFSARTIK
Ky IRB B TR o

EFenERERIEERER
SIBEAARENAE

CERKZET

@ BEBFEHBRR

(b) BITEEE

(© JHEREMR:

(d) EBMOR R

(€) RKREBENK:

() BAREREXZHESE

(9) RBEERFM=

(hy #HWERBEERKR - BUakR R Ethk g E
AEBARKE R ERBHEAMINEE
=

()  EREMmIMOERRH : &

() EBSURERAEBHEMERE -

BRI REEOABARRAR it REE &

EEURIBFE S HAMEER T RRSE

(@ FHERE

(b) RERKE.

© HRIKRE &

d FENEFSRR/EEZENZEFMDIK

59



60

Accel Group Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {t ¥ & 4%k &

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association. There can be no assurance that dividends
of such amount or any amount will be declared or distributed each
year or in any year.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders communication policy
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, circulars, AGMs and EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the Year.

The Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF
ACCEL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Accel
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

AREZEH

Revenue recognition from provision of electrical and
mechanical (“E&M") engineering services

REREEE((HE ) TRRBLRSEER

We identified the revenue recognition from provision of
E&M engineering services as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole and management'’s estimate is involved in determining
the revenue when contracts progress.

B R B IREME TRERG R ERHR SRR EXSE
B REREHGAUBHRABEBRERENAETENERE
Wk e s R EREMMET -

As set out in notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group derived its revenue from provision
of E&M engineering services over time and recognised
HK$508,904,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Revenue from provision of such services is recognised over
time using input method, i.e. based on actual costs incurred
by the Group to date compared with total budgeted costs
for the projects to estimate the revenue recognised during
the year.

AR B SRR TARSE - EREWEIREBEERRE
EVHERS PR (A0 T TAZARTS - WX E 2021434318 1k
FE HEFR508,904,000/8 7T ° R B RFEUBREMFRES
PEERRERERR / OEER - BIRE EXEESRIE
EEAMNERKAEIR R NERRERAETHER - AMEEEAR
FEMERHWE -

RREFXEE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REZTFEARERREZZEANS X

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition for
provision of E&M engineering services included:

BMBRRERE TR REERHEFBREAT
KIH :

o Obtaining an understanding on how the
management recognises the revenue from the
provision of E&M engineering services and how
the total budget costs are determined;

e THEEREBRIAKBRHEELIERBKENA
FEARBTRERABETEN N

° Agreeing the project contract sum and values of
variation orders, where applicable, to the relevant
signed contracts and the correspondence with
customers on a sample basis;

e BEEANSENIREEDRECEE(ER)E
HEAD RS X MEZ P rEAETTMERY

3 Assessing the accuracy of actual total costs
incurred for the year by checking against the
supporting documents including the payment
certificates or invoices issued by the major
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors, on a sample
basis;

s MEREIENEH  HEBIERLANXZFE
M (BRENRBARBER) U EERFEEE
A RERAKAR ERENE

o Checking the total budget costs against the
underlying contracts, quotation and other
correspondence with subcontractors, suppliers or
vendors of individual projects on a sample basis;
and

e REMAMNEENHEESL HRERESEHE - #
ERESE RN EMBA - MEREBREKRAE
CERS

o Assessing the accuracy of revenue recognised for
the year by recalculating the revenue based on the
percentage of completion of the contract based on
the input method.

e  BRRBRBRALENITEERSHNTHKEDLLE
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BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 3% 37 #% B Ef $R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RREZER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

B RUWHAER S NEE ZRER G

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables and contract assets to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
involvement of subjective judgment and management
estimates in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL") of
the Group's trade receivables and contract assets at the end
of the reporting period.

B8 S RKIAR A NEE RENER A —HERE
REIE - DARESREFIERENEEY S5EENES
IBHRERTEERANBREHARTE EEEEHRUGIR
e BEENTEHEEER((RBEEBR DS SR EHH
& E IR E (AT o

As set out in notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
amounting to approximately HK$50.7 million and HK$158.6
million, which represented approximately 10.9% and 34.0%,
respectively, of total assets of the Group as at 31 March
2021.

WERE M BERRMT 16 RI7FE - EEEHNE S EUK
BRENEENRS0TEERITRI86BEET 945l
15 BEEER2021F3A31 BB EERL10.9%K%34.0% °

AREFXEE®@

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANFMAERARETER

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables and contract assets included:
BMEBESRKFIBEREHNEE ZBENEREFE
7

° Understanding key controls on how the
management of the Group estimates the loss
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets;

e TR ESEEEBREMHEZRUFERENE
EERRE T A BT S 1

o Testing the integrity of information used by
the management of the Group for impairment
assessment, including the ageing analysis of trade
receivables and past due history of debtors as at
31 March 2021, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant
construction agreements, certificates issued by
architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers, settlement records of
debtors and other supporting documents; and

e  BBAKOMANMEREREEBEIGRE TP
ZIERREERD - RISRISEMAR R ANEZRA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RREREE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets
ESRWRERESNEE ZHETMG

As disclosed in notes 4 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group performs
impairment assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate
the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective debtors. Estimated
loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information. As disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements. Impairment of HK$631,000 and
HK$1,568,000 in respect of trade receivables and contract
assets respectively were recognised as at 31 March 2021 and
for the year then ended.

WNFE M BHRERNTARINAHRE - EEEERERE
MERA R R A BB E E TR - BRES - BRREEEER,Sg Hf
AL - HRME B FE U AR R BB TR ERT L - LAMEETE SR
FERANEENZHRBAGEEBESE - it BIEX R
REEW R RTE B F RN BE SRR IMENRGFE RATEY
B o AR E SRR3R - 70202163 A31B K
HEZHIIFEVEERAFABIRUFIBARANEEDN
B 7 Bl /631,000 7T 5. 1,568,000/8 7T °

RREFXEE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B Ft O AFEREARETSR

Challenging management’s basis and judgment
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31
March 2021, including their identification of
credit-impaired trade receivables and contract
assets, and the basis of estimated loss rates applied
on each debtor in the impairment assessment with
reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information.
EREHEEBTN202143A31BE 5 EKHE
REHNBEGERERBHEERHE  BFH
HEEREE S RIKIERENEENBBIA KR
BE GRS RERRERN G EEE(2ERE
SEENERAMEEER) RIELEE o



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the section
headed “Connected Transactions”, the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the section headed
“Connected Transactions” is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is K. W. Yim.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REBRBREMEEREISR

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE20219F3 431 HIFFE

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A31AILEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B =E FHT T

Revenue I 5 508,904 522,332

Cost of services RRFEA AR (406,302) (406,143)

Gross profit EF 102,602 116,189

Other income HAan A 6(a) 11,369 1,395

Other gains and losses Hbzs RIEE 6(b) = 88
Impairment losses under expected TEEEEEEEX T 2E S

credit loss model, net of reversal MEAMEWFIERAE L

BERBEEBE 31 (2,199) -

Listing expenses kX = (7,1898)

Administrative expenses TR (25,135) (22,097)

Finance costs B TGRS 7 (175) (132)

Profit before taxation BRBL AR 8 86,462 88,255

Income tax expense FrisfiA X 10 (13,159) (15,600)

Profit and total comprehensive income £ X5z F & 2 H W 5

for the year g 73,303 72,655
Earnings per share BRER 12
— Basic (HK Cents) —ZARGE) 9.16 10.52

— Diluted (HK Cents) —#5E (B(L) N/ATE A 10.52
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GFE kR

As at 31 March 2021
HR2021F3H31H

As at 31 March

M3AH31R
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B MEEAE 13 3,572 3,921
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 4,105 2,788
Payments for life insurance FANE i 15 6,879 6,308
Pledged bank balances DIRIRTTHE 18 15,186 49,677
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 23 363 =
30,105 63,194
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 Kk E AR FIR
and prepayments e RIENHIA 16 61,236 68,071
Contract assets EHEE 17 146,592 106,041
Pledged bank balances BRI TR 18 42,256 20,476
Bank balances and cash RITEBEIRE 18 186,418 109,440
436,502 304,028
Current liabilities REIEE
Trade and retention payables B S MENRIE - BT
and accruals ﬁli&ﬁ’éd‘%)ﬂ 19 80,683 48,899
Trust receipts R 20 10,000 -
Contract liabilities BHAaE 17 2,227 2,218
Taxation liabilities ﬁlﬁﬁ% 1,697 7,816
Bank loans RITER 20 15,022 483
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 2,847 1,583
112,476 60,999
Net current assets RBEEZFE 324,026 243,029
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERASHEE 354,131 306,223
Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Lease liabilities HEARE 21 1,410 1,205
Net assets EEFE 352,721 305,018
Capital and reserves BEXRHE
Share capital N 22 8,000 8,000
Reserves {1 344,721 297,018
Total equity R 352,721 305,018

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 144 were  Z569Z 144 B 4R 4 M IS HER B 7202146 A30
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 HEZES=E L ERFETIETHUTESARE

June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: E
Dr. Ko Lai Hung Ms. Cheung Mei Lan
BREEL REWMZL
Director Director

EF EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREEIR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE20219F3 431 HIFFE
Share Share Other G ETH D
capital premium reserve profits Total
R R 1P isE HitE REBEF h

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THAT TR THT TAT THT
(Note)
(KizE)

At 1 April 2019 #R2019F4A1H —* 77,266 (72,580) 101,337 106,023

Profit and total comprehensive FRETk2ERELE

income for the year - - - 72,655 72,655
Issue of ordinary shares of the BRERNHEEFTAARLR

Company pursuant to the Share B (7% B K #E22(ii)

Offer (as defined in Note 22(ii) 2,000 144,000 - - 146,000
Capitalisation Issue (as defined in BN 347 (F % R I #E22(ii)

Note 22(iii)) 6,000 (6,000) - - -
Share issue expenses BinBTRY = (19,660) = = (19,660)
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31 8 8,000 195,606 (72580) 173,992 305,018
Profit and total comprehensive FREFR2EWEEE

income for the year - - - 73,303 73,303

Final dividend declared (Note 11)  EEAREAR S (FizE11) =

- - (25,600) (25,600)

At 31 March 2021 2021434318 8,000

195,606 (72,580) 221,695 352,721

Note:

Amounts less than HK$ 1,000

The other reserve arose from: (i) deemed distribution arising from
the imputed interest income on non-current interest-free advances
to a shareholder of the Company (as defined in Note 1) amounting
to HK$10,190,000 in prior years; (ii) issuance of ordinary shares of
the Company for the reorganisation of the Group for the listing
of the Company’s ordinary shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited completed on 30 November 2018
amounting to HK$72,266,000 (the “Reorganisation”); and (iii)
deemed contribution arising from the waiver of an amount due to a
shareholder of the Company amounting to HK$9,876,000.

& 2580 1,000/8 7T

sk : EfbfEERE - (VR ABEFERER —BAA
AR ER (E 2 BT EE1) 1R JEBN HA 62 B B SRR
ERE WA DIK 10,190,000 7T ; (ii)5£2018
FNANAARRANEBRABEBMERZFN
ERARFR LT ASEEA(EA]) BT
RN E)EFEALT72,266,00058 7T ¢ M (i) 18 A E
FAGR A — B AR BIA% B R IE A 389,876,000
BT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BLE20219F3 531 HIFF/E

Year ended 31 March

BE3H31BLEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KREES
Profit before taxation BRE AT 86,462 88,255
Adjustments for: MRFIBE EHFAE -
Depreciation of property, ME - WELRRETE
plant and equipment 772 609
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,293 1,933
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE - BB k&2 W=
plant and equipment - (130)
Write-off of property, M - BB MR
plant and equipment - 42
Interest income A2 U A (830) (912)
Impairment losses under expected RHEEEBRER TH
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEE - MR 2,199 -
Interest income on payments ZNERESHFEWA
for life insurance (71) =
Finance costs B TSR AR 175 132
Operating cash flows before movements ~ &B8 & & ZBATNELIRERE
in working capital 92,000 89,929
(Decrease) increase in trade and other B 5k EMEWFIE
receivables, deposits and prepayments Be RFERFIBCRD )L 6,204 (36,200)
Increase in contract assets BHIEEE N (45,048) (44,227)
Increase in contract liabilities EHBEEN 2,938 7,554
Increase in trade and retention payables, ESENMNIAE - EMAFEESE
trust receipts and accruals {EREUIE & B AT & AR 1S hI 41,784 15,079
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIRE 97,878 32,135
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBEBNEH (19,641) (13,766)
Net cash from operating activities KRBTSR & F 58 78,237 18,369
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchases of property, BEYE - WE REE
plant and equipment (423) (1,418)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMZE - BE R&ER
plant and equipment FriS5RIE - 162
Placements of pledged bank balances FADBTPIRITES (7,588) (70,153)
Release of pledged bank balances B IRIRTTAE SR ARRR 20,299 -
Interest received BHFE 830 912
Net cash from (used in) investing activities & & EEFTS(FTH )R &/ F5E 13,118 (70,497)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS {8 R ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
LR 2021F3H31HIFF/ZE

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A318ILEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank loan raised HESNIRTTER 16,000 -
Repayments of bank loans BIRIRITEN (1,461) (976)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAR (3,141) (1,548)
Proceeds from issuance of shares TR ZE TS 518 - 146,000
Dividend paid 2R E (25,600) =
Issue costs paid BT = (16,626)
Interest paid BEAFE (175) (132)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities B2E EE) () PSR & %58 (14,377) 126,718
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReEkESEEWEMFERE
EQUIVALENTS 76,978 74,590
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ F#HIHIE S MIREEEY
of the year 109,440 34,850
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERNBERIRESEEY -

AT END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED  BMR{THEBR RS
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 186,418 109,440
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4RE B Rk aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B EFHI) - GLETTIT)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Accel Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 20 September
2018, and its shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 18 October 2019. The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit Nos. 709—
711, 7/F., The Octagon, No. 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong (which will be changed to Unit No. 6,
27th Floor, “909 Cheung Sha Wan Road”, No. 909 Cheung
Sha Wan Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong with
effect from 1 July 2021), respectively. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the ultimate controlling parties
are Dr. Ko Lai Hung (“Dr. Ko”) and Ms. Cheung Mei Lan
(“Ms. Cheung”, who is the wife of Dr. Ko). The immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company is Lightspeed
Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is principally engaged in provision of electrical and
mechanical ("E&M") engineering services typically involving
supply, installation and maintenance of mechanical ventilation
and air-conditioning systems .

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

—RER
SR EEERERAB(TARAT])H2018
FOH20ARBRASHEARAER 25
SR RERRBER AR RERD B
201910 18B BN EBEE X H AR
NaEl([HRA ) ER LT o NAF M
ERN&EELEME S B A Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands & &
B AL EDREHE R ERKPLTE
TOETIIRE(KEER/RBTBNERDE
E/)\ﬁés_%%ﬁrE//Jv%L9o9sﬁJ27$§6ﬂ
CB2021F7A1BRER) - ARAIE
%.ﬂ% AR Hx/\iﬁ'm%*‘ﬁ%i(fn
Bt aErzEF)RERERZT(ER
Zx])  c ARFAMERRBLIERAFA
Lightspeed Limited °

ARRABR—EREERAE - RABRE
B AR (e A EE ) T2 EREE
BHEREE RERREEREBR KR ZER
FETR G E ([HME ) TRRIRT ©

A BHRABIT(BTIR - M
TR ARE REMBRRNEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A T A 23, L In) S

A 8 BB B IS 3R o B
(&2 atims LR )R
RN F E o5& ) 4 MRS RT BB B
B

RAFE AEEEXERBETESE
RE((BREAAE])EMZN2020%5F
ARVARZRFAR 2 FERERS AR
BB B BRI Z B A5 5 2 185T
RTINEERT 2 BB EHRERER - iR
SUF MK

BREEAF IR ERHNTR
BBGERIFEH

MER]

BREMBHREED  XBNESR
F3IRMERT

BRMBHREER  FIEEERE

F9% - BEGE
ERIE3E AR
M RELERETH
MER]

RAFERBE B EHEER B ME
8155 Z 5T RIRERT BB M & 2R
I G AR BN ANEE FBEFENOME
HRRBZBL, SFa B RRABRE
EHEBREATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

= o N o
r = A FEHH p

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®
Reference to the Conceptual Framework*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions'

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20212

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use*

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020*

A S BB B IS 3R o B
(& EtiisEal )R
al (#)

C M5 {8 12 oK 2 R B HT 5T R AZHB T
BRYBREZER
AEEW BT EA TS BMERKRE
MEFR] R ER] BB G LA -

BRMBHREEN  REBRANRIERET A
175

BREMBHREED  HSERZ R
F3IRMERT
BEMBHREED  FEREERE-F_REE

F9% - BEGE
ERIE395% -

BREHHRSER
R - BEHH
FEEAUFLSER

ERMBRS R
E165RAER]

ERMBHREELN  REEFHEBRLNANAE
FIORRERST  CEZHMEELER
ERIZHEMIER] A

ERUBHREEL  Covid-19EHLES
E165RAER]

BBESRE &R 202146 F308 4 Covid-19
F165EME] HEEsER

EESPERSE1E  BERESSH(2020F)
KEET BERBIIERDAR

DRRAERERT A
BREEAF RN SRBRRE

BEHBRSER

EBHREFLR

MER]

BEGEAFSRE  EFHASHESRS
MER]

BEGHERF 12N E-RFELNEERAR
MER] TREMETH R

BREEAFEI6Y  WE  BELRE T
MER] R RS RIR
BREEAEITS  BESH-BTAHMMAE

]
EAUBACEN  EAUBESEL0IEE

FEE] 2020%F 7 F D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)
i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

C Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements includes applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

FE R FTE] B R P A o 22 A

(BB KREER )R HS

& (#)

C M5 {B 12 oKk £ 2B HTR] R ASHE T

EARMKEREER @)

1 1K2020% 6 A1 B 8k 2 1% 7 40 &0 F 2 Hi ]
AR

2 R202161 81 B8k 2 % BAKNEEHM
A2y

3 R2021F4 81882 %R FEE M
A2y

2 1M20224%1 A1 B sk 2 &6 K F B
AR

5 2023461 A1 B8k 2 % BAKNEEHM
A2y

g RFETE B HAsk 2 1% FA ) F fZ AR A R

W

ESHHERAMAN MEERTRBH
BELNRAFRRLRE TG E A M
WREXEATE -

EWN-E

RAMBBRRDRBEEEGTASRM
MEEMBHREENREE - ARG EY
BHEME  WEMENESEENGYE
TEAPELARE - MIBREEREER
B o o SR M BRREEY R NE
% AR B R BB R EHERGIRR T2 8 i A 3

Ego

A MBS HR TN R E HIRIRE 2 AR
EMRE - VTG RTRRPIAL ©

st P A — MR B SR R SR AR 19
AR B AT B -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of these asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16"”), and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

3.

B RSB @
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

(©) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Revenue from sales of disinfection spray equipment and
accessories are recognised when the control of goods is
transferred, being they have been shipped to the customer’s
specific location based on the quantity of disinfection spray
equipment and accessories received by the customers. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer’s specific location and received by
the customers as this represents the point in time at which
the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before payment is due. The
customers have neither rights of return nor rights to defer
or avoid payment for the goods once they are accepted by
the customers. No provision for returns of disinfection spray
equipment set out in the relevant sales agreements, unless
they could be replaced if there are quality problems found.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component and are accounted for by applying
other applicable standards.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

] any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments. The Group presents
lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

] the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRSs require or permit the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme"”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to subsidy income from government
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share options granted to employees (continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred
to retained profits. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share-based payments reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating units
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and a financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

] the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below).

For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables, payments for life insurance, refundable
rental deposits, pledged bank balances and bank balances)
and other item (i.e. contract assets) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition in
which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
and contract assets as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the external (if available) or internal credit rating of
the financial instrument and contract assets;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

0

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument or a contract asset has
not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument and the contract asset is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument or a contract asset is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument or
a contract asset to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset or a
contract asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets and contract assets

A financial asset or a contract asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset or a
contract asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset or a contract
asset when there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
or contract assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
and other receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of a group entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and retention payables,
trust receipts and bank loans) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of E&M
engineering services

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of E&M
engineering services according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as the
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation measured based on input method. Notwithstanding
that the management reviews and revises the estimates of
both contract revenue and costs for the E&M engineering
services as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the
contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may be higher
or lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue
and profit recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
recognised revenue amounted to HK$508,904,000 (2020:
HK$522,332,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The management of the Group performs impairment
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the amount
of ECL of trade receivables and contract assets based on
internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment history and/or past
due status of respective debtors. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information.
At every reporting date, the internal credit rating and historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL is disclosed in note 31.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and contract assets were HK$50,716,000
(2020: HK$41,730,000), and HK$158,630,000 (2020:
HK$115,150,000), respectively, including allowance of credit
losses for the Group's trade receivables of HK$631,000 (2020:
Nil) and the Group’s contract assets of HK$1,568,000 (2020:
Nil).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group arose from provision of E&M
engineering services typically rendered in Hong Kong under
long-term contracts and were recognised over time during the
year.

The Group provides E&M engineering services to customers
which are mainly landlords, construction companies and
contractors in Hong Kong private sector. All the Group's
provision of E&M Engineering services is made directly with
the customers.

The provision of the Group’s E&M engineering services are
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time
as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. Revenue is
recognised for these construction services based on the stage
of completion of the contract using input method.

The Group’s contracts are mainly at fixed-price and payments
are made to the Group over the provision of E&M engineering
services once such services are performed and certified by
architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers.

The Group may require certain customers to make advance
payments during the provision of E&M engineering services,
when the Group receives the advance payments before
provision of E&M engineering services, this will give rise to
contract liabilities, until the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of such advances.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the provision
of E&M engineering services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the relevant certification
by architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by
the customers.

The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon the Group'’s services
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W#EKkDBEER @

(continued)

The Group's contracts with customers normally require it to AEEEEFPNGHBTEERRE KRR
perform the obligations (including, amongst others, primarily BEBEHERTIHZRAERI2E24EAM
rectification of defects identified) under the contracts during HEEEHABITAOETHNEE(HEAF
the defects liability period generally for 12 to 24 months after PREETZEAMECBENRIE) - RBE
issuance of practical completion certificates by customers. EHRREMBITHREERBTE QTN
The defect liability period serves as an assurance that the e ZREITREBEE - KPEEH
construction services performed comply with agreed-upon I REIS% E10% 8 E HE P NERE
specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased SREWHEGIAREENENEEN) -
separately. 5% to 10% of each interim payment from the HA50% 0 RE S RERIESERE HER
customers is usually withheld by the customers as retention TIRASEEREE FHEUGRIENAHEK
receivables (as included in the Group’s contract assets) in @ - ek N50% (R E S U IBE S 743
which 50% of the retention receivable is transferred to the AENRTENREETHEREEREE
trade receivables for collection upon issuance of practical 5 FEWGRIA LA 1 ]

completion certificates, and the remaining 50% of the
retention receivable is transferred to the trade receivables for
collection upon expiry of the defects liability period set out in
the relevant contracts.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining PEEFNBKBNEENRZER
performance obligations

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance M2021F3 A3 1B EBARHEKET
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) in respect of EIRBHEHSBENET(RETHHD RE
provision of E&M engineering services as at 31 March 2021 17) MR BB A&742,087,0007% 7t (2020
amounting to HK$742,087,000 (2020: HK$789,564,000) 1 789,564,000/ 7)) - BEIK R IA T
which is expected to be recognised as revenue in the following EER AW

years:

Year ended 31 March

BE3H31BLEE
2021 PAOYAC)
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Within one year —&R 474,387 514,772
More than one year but not —F LA HETNBBARF
more than two years 217,314 260,245
More than two years TR B 50,386 14,547

742,087 789,564
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, regularly review revenue recognised
and costs incurred for the provision of E&M engineering
services and, therefore, considered the Group has only one
single reporting and operating segment under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

All the Group's revenue was earned from customers located in
Hong Kong and all its non-current assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) are situated in Hong
Kong.

Revenue from customers for the year contributing over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Customer A ZPA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C BFC
Customer D ZFD
Customer E ZFE

5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Wz K 2 2B E R

ARBATES (AEBLERRESTE
HE B s IR M E T A2 AR A5 PR R A M 2t
NETEENKA - BUtREEEMERE
BRIFSREL LD HRA/ANEEER —BE
—HREREEDE

AEENABERZARBUREENET
F - mEMBFRBEE(TRTANELT
BIREERINDURES °

RAFERERPMAEE LK ETERA
10% AUz -

Year ended 31 March

BE3AMBLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
150,814 N/AT i FR
77,508 187,607
76,061 N/AT i FR
N/ATEA 141,868
N/ATEA 55,900

The revenue from the above customers marked with not
applicable (“N/A") represents their revenue contributions to
the Group were less than 10% of the Group's revenue in the
relevant year.

*E ERFEAENER(RERDERPK
s AEARE Y DR AR E R E R
FREWEHAI10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

/ A

=N

B Y1 N

/L

6. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND 6. HMWA HttlmRE R
LOSSES
Year ended 31 March
BZ3A318ILEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(@  Other income (@) EMUA
Insurance compensation B TR ErIRREEE
for staff injury = 297
Interest income B A 830 912
Government grants (Note i) B Bh (B=ED 10,339 -
Interest income on payments TSRS HFIEMRA
for life insurance 71 =
Others (Note ii) oAt (B i) 129 186
11,369 1,395
(b)  Other gains and losses (b) Emhazm K EE
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERE
plant and equipment € - 130
Write-off of property, M - BB KR
plant and equipment = (42)
= 88
Notes: 5T

During the year, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$10,339,000 in respect of Coronavirus disease 19 related
subsidies, of which HK$10,289,000 and HK$50,000 relate to
Employment Support Scheme and One-off Subsidy for Transport
Trades, respectively, provided by the Hong Kong Government.

Included in the others for the year was a profit of HK$24,000 ii.
(2020: Nil) from the sales of disinfection spray equipment and
accessories. The relevant revenue recognised, based on a point

in time, was HK$115,000 for the year (2020: Nil).

RAEE » REBCHE2019T MBS
T A B A 478 B 78 38.10,339,000 7% 7T BT
) - b B EEEBUN R ER R
ZERNMRL B RE X EHERE D R
10,289,000/ 7T % 50,000/ 7T °

RAFE  HBIERAHEHEESES
2245 IR AL A 048 7 24,0008 7T (20204 -
#7) o PE—EZERRNERERBK
7 A115,0008 7T (20204 : £E) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A T N o
a2 2T AH Y ;

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BIEEZA
Year ended 31 March
BZ3A318ILEE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest on bank loans IRITEZRFE 33 24
Interest on lease liabilities HEREFE 142 108
175 132
8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. PBRBIADEF
Year ended 31 March
BZ3A318ILEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Profit before taxation has been FREERT @A T F0BR A T B8R
arrived at after charging: EH
Depreciation of property, W - WENREETE
plant and equipment 772 609
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 3,293 1,933
Auditor’s remuneration (A GIEA 800 1,200
Staff costs (including the remuneration 8 T AN (B FEMTcEOFTIREEAY
of the directors of the Company RARIEFHM) -
as disclosed in note 9):
— Salaries and allowances and —¥e MR AR IEIEL
discretionary bonus 73,282 66,987
— Retirement benefit scheme — RINEFFTBI X
contributions 2,457 2,281
Total staff costs 8 T A48 75,739 69,268
Donations B 60 1,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A= - fal=} 1/ N S Ty =
(BB, HLETS

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s
emoluments

9. %% - BRETBRABRESH
EEMERESTRAEME

XN FARRBEZHMESFBENT

Details of the emoluments paid to the directors of the
Company are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021 B 202153531 HIULFEZE

Other emoluments

Hit &
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
HeR RINER
ik Hit2ah AL STEIMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET TET TET
Executive directors: HTES:
Dr. Ko =it - 2,280 570 18 2,868
Ms. Cheung RAT - 1,380 345 18 1,743
Non-executive director: FHITES
Mr. Ko Angus Chun Kit e ( Bk
(“Mr. CK Ko", son of RE] SELE
Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung) KRtz 5%T) 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive BV IFHITEE :
directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat BEELE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tse Ka Wing HEALT 180 - - - 180
Mr. Ho Chi Shing ST E 180 - - - 180
900 3,660 915 36 5,511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A 4 o= VA ey oy e
B2 2 A5 21 pA 4 :

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

9. EEX BS1TBAERESM
CAC )
EEMERESTHAEME @

B F202043531HILFE

Other emoluments
Hitile
Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
Hek RIKEF
e Hi28h BETEAT REGS a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL AT THL
Executive directors; HIES
Dr. Ko SEL - 2,280 570 18 2,868
Ms. Cheung REL - 1,380 345 18 1,743
Non-executive director; FHTES:
Mr. CK Ko mERE 164 - - - 164
Independent non-executive BV IFHITES :
directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat BREELE 82 - - - 82
Ms. Tse Ka Wing BT 82 - - - 82
Mr. Ho Chi Shing ML E 82 - - - 82
410 3,660 915 36 5,021

The emoluments of the above executive directors of the
Company were paid for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Group whereas
the emoluments of the above non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors of the Company were
paid for their services as directors of the Company during
the year. Besides, the above executive directors are entitled
to bonus payments which are determined with reference to
individual performance of the relevant directors.

RAFE » ERAARRRITEFTNOME TS
FAIR BB I AR 5 B SRS P AR (AR A5 T 52
- AR RRFFNITES B I
TEENNE IR BEEFEEARARESH
REMRBMAS o ptod - LMARRE
SRBEMIEAL - BTS2 E 18R
SEMEARBRETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

Dr. Ko is also the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive”) and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

None of the directors of the Company nor the Chief Executive
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year
include 2 (2020: 2) directors of the Company, details of whose
emoluments are set out above. Details of the emoluments
of the remaining 3 (2020: 3) highest paid individuals are as
follows:

o= gH. L IN] S B =
(B 5B LS - 5L E TSR

/L

BE  BRETHRAEREESM
CAC )
EEMERESTHAEMES @

SELTARRRTRAR([THAR])
REREBRzMERERRBREETR
BEREREZME -

REEFE  BEARTESRITHRAR
MEXFRBRETATME

EEME

AEE AEENAEZRSTHA LS
2% (20205 : 2R )ANRRIESE - HP&5F
BHER EX o 88 T35 (20209 : 38 )&=
HATHES BT

Year ended 31 March

HBZ3H310LLEFEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T

Employees EBE
— Salaries and allowances — e RER 2,404 2,307
— Discretionary bonus (Note) — BYIBIEAT (BIRE) 838 806
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIREFET IR

contributions 54 54
3,296 3,167

Note: The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the employees and approved by the
management of the Group.

st BBTEAL DR 2 E R EMBEARREEL
MASEEEEHLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A s oo [T —
ka2 AN

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid employees
were within the following bands:

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

ZZ 1,000,000/ 7T

9. BEE BSITBRAERESH

cAC )
EEME @
BRI ReFNESNEISSEENT

Year ended 31 March

HBE3A3MBLEE
2021

2020
20204
(No. of

individual)

(ABO

20214
(No. of
individual)

(A8

1,000,001 7c 21,500,000 7T 1 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company, Chief Executive nor the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNEB

AEEYBAEAARBTES  KHITK
ABH AL ERHIA L HEMBE(E
AIMARE B R INAREE R 2B B
BBE -

10. FRfERIRE>

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A31ALLEE
2021 2020
20204
HK$'000

T

20215
HK$'000
FHT

— Current year — REFE 13,522 15,600
Deferred tax (Note 23) EFERIE (FI7E23) (363) =
13,159 15,600

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

RAEE - BBNEHIVIZG ERBUR
FIEY16.5%(20204F : 16.5% )& °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4N~ oA 1 IN) St o= T =
e = A ZFRHY T4

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRAEHB <@

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed MN2018F3821H  EF L EZZEB
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") 017 F BB (EET) (B7R) RHIER)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The ([ZEBIER]) - S| AFFHRRG - %
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted IRBIEZRM2018F3 A28 A EHBLEMN
on the following day. WHRBHERHRTZ -

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 BEMNSTRAH  aBBEEEHE2AE
million of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed 7S T HY 5 A 8 12 8.25% B R R T - T
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at HBiE2 8 BB T a2 16.5% T R 4N
16.5%. The two-tiered profits tax rates regime was applicable I - BZE2021F3A31 B IEMEFE
to Chit Tat Electrical Engineering Limited (“Chit Tat”, a F - NEBRAREKEANEERETR
wholly-owned subsidiary) for each of the two years ended 31 BRAR(T#E] - —FH2EWBAR]) -
March 2021.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the RAFEERMEHAZ AT EGaBm RE
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit ftb 2T M Es R N RIR T AR A SRR ¢

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3MBLLEE
2021 2020

20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T

Profit before taxation Fr A A 86,462 88,255

Tax charge at the applicable income tax %3 TS F1 % 16.5% (20204 :

rate at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) 16.5% st EMFIEZ L 14,266 14,562
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  “NRIF0FLFE L T TG R/ 2

for tax purpose 847 1,353
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax HBZERTE U AT 72

purpose (1,789) (150)
Income tax at concessionary rate REBRERGTENREH (165) (165)

Income tax expense for the year REEFFEHRX 13,159 15,600
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a final dividend of
HK cent 3.2 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended
31 March 2020 was declared to the ordinary shareholders of
the Company. The aggregate amount of the final dividend
declared during the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK$25,600,000 (2020: Nil).

No interim dividends were proposed for the year ended 31
March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the payment
of a final dividend of HK cent 4.1 per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2021, in an aggregate amount
of HK$32,800,000 has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders of the
Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Earnings for the purpose of calculating FARETEFARER K
basic earnings per share BE R MR T
(profit for the year) (RFE M)

11.

12.

BRE

HE2021F3A31HILFE B &=
FEE2020543A31 B IEFET IR ALK
ESREEEI2BWNTFARG ERALER
HE2021F3A31BIEFEMNEEIRAH

A% B 42 4 %8 /525,600,000 7T (20204 :
) o

HE2021F3A3MBEFERERN - 5
IRk A BARR B (20204 « £E) o

RFERERE AR EZEEZZHE
F2021F3ANBIEFE RN RBRES
A& EBA%R4. 1B - S FA32,800,00078
JC  WARSARRRENEERFEAEFT K
g i -

FREAR
AAREA AR GRERREERFT
RO T RS E -

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31ALEE
2021 2020
2020%F
HK$'000

TAT

20214
HK$’000
FET

73,303 72,655
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

42 N=F" =) 1/ ) SHE = T o=
e 5 G5 AHYN - {2 T 4

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12. SRER @)

No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 ‘000

ROBE i8R
TR T

Weighted average number of ordinary IR sH E&RRE A K
shares for the purpose of calculating  #EBZFH) L EAL

basic earnings per share ISR 800,000 690,710

No diluted earnings per share is presented for the year ended AR EEE D BT TR - R ERS
31 March 2021 as there was no potential ordinary share in HZE2021F3A31BIEFENSREES
issue. B ER] -
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to HZE2020F3 A31 A IEFEARGFTEER
calculate the basic earnings per share amount for the year AERBNSENTBERINEFLHEE R
ended 31 March 2020 has been determined on the assumption REANEAET(ERAKFE2)ER
that the Reorganisation and the Capitalisation Issue (as defined 2019F4 A1 HEMMETE °

in note 22) have been effective on 1 April 2019.

Diluted earnings per share is same as the basic earnings per SR ESERFEEFE2020F3 8318 IHE
share for the year ended 31 March 2020 as the effect of the ERNERERRZFER - AR ERS
over-allotment option in relation to the Share Offer (as defined BE(FH BWE22) A BB AR IR EY

in note 22) on diluted earnings per share was insignificant. FREERFNNTEREAX -
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13. ¥ - BERRE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
A carpark Leasehold fixtures and Motor
space improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE Bk KB
FEM nEEE SE EH #s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH7 TH7 T TH TH7
cosT A
At 1 April 2019 R201954H18 2,300 320 1,698 - 4318
Additions NE = 196 473 749 1,418
Transfer from BERREEE
right-of-use assets EEE - - - 264 264
Disposals i - - - (264) (264)
Write-off i3 - (320) - - (320)
At 31 March 2020 7202063 A31H 2,300 196 2,171 749 5,416
Additions RE - 17 406 - 423
At 31 March 2021 1202143 H318 2,300 213 2,577 749 5,839
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 April 2019 1201954 A1H 46 224 894 - 1,164
Provided for the year REEERE 73 118 306 112 609
Transfer from BERREE
right-of-use assets Lz b, - - - 232 232
Eliminated upon disposals &R - - - (232) (232)
Eliminated upon write-off  igEFs 484 - (278) - - (278)
At 31 March 2020 72020634318 119 64 1,200 112 1,495
Provided for the year KEERE 79 102 366 225 772
At 31 March 2021 72021€3A31H 198 166 1,566 337 2,267
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 March 2021 F202163 4318 2,102 47 1,011 412 3,572
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H 2,181 132 971 637 3,921




13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

A carpark space 3%

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Furniture, fixtures and 20%-30%
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

The Group's carpark space is situated in Hong Kong.

The Group's carpark space is pledged to secure its banking
facilities (Note 20).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The tenure of the Group’s lease arrangements for renting
carpark space, office premises, warehouses and motor vehicles
is mainly from two to five years.

The lease arrangements for renting carpark space, office
premises and warehouses usually allow early termination for
the Group'’s giving one-month prior notice after twelve months
from the commencement of the leases, otherwise, penalties,
equivalent to one-month lease payment, is necessary.

In respect of the lease arrangements for renting motor
vehicles, the Group has options to purchase the motor vehicles
for nominal amounts at the end of the leases and there is no
early termination options.

13.

14.

BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR

M -  BERRE®

EME - RS R R E SRR T
PR -

{FEAL 3%
HEWERE FAEHN
Rifh - BB K& 20%-30%

RE 20%

AEBIEELERE

AN @S B A R E SR 1T RY B /A (BT 5
20) °

EHAEEE
ARBEBESEL  PAENE  BER
EMAERHFRHEEAMERF ©

HAFEMN BAEMEREENHEER
BREAHAKERHERG T —@EAE
BT —EABMEMKLEEE - SRIFEH
RSN —EAEEN RO -

RERAENHEEREME - AEEA#E
REPEREZERCERETE - R
RETEATAZ LS -
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group's right-of-use assets in respect of lease
arrangements for renting carpark space, office premises,
warehouses and motor vehicles at the end of reporting period
are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14. FHREEEm@®
REBRRERRBAREELN - PAE
WE - BENMAIENEEL BN S NFER
MEEENT

Carpark Office Motor
space premises  Warehouses vehicles Total
BEL  BOEYE RE "E act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TR TR TR
CARRYING VALUES REE
As at 31 March 2021 202134318
Carrying amount FHE = 2,480 529 1,096 4,105
As at 31 March 2020 1202063A31H
Carrying amount ERE 47 808 643 1,290 2,788
For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3A31AL5FE
Depreciation charge FEBR 47 1,884 658 704 3,293
For the year ended 31 March 2020  EZE2020F3A31H L
Depreciation charge FEER 46 721 437 729 1,933

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets (mainly
motor vehicles) at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Other
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

During the year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases
amounting to HK$3,283,000 (2020: HK$1,656,000).

During the year, the Group had additions to right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$4,610,000 (2020: HK$2,270,000).

In addition, the Group's lease liabilities of HK$4,257,000 (2020:
HK$2,788,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of HK$4,105,000 (2020: HK$2,788,000) as at 31 March 2021.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessors.

AR E A IR N B AR RIS AE
HEEEMER(ZERAE)NERAESR
ERAFI B MESA A FREREER
B HibEREEENEM A ERAFY
RABUABIEE RE)RERENE -

RAFE  AEBHENBABEESRL A
3,283,000/ 7T (20204F : 1,656,000/8 7T ) °

RAFE AXEBAEFTHAEEE
4,610,000/%8 7T (20204F : 2,270,000 7T) °

gt o - AN B & A & 4,257,000 7% 7T
(20204F : 2,788,000 7T ) & [F] 48 B8 {# F
& E4,105,0007% 7T (20204F : 2,788,000
BIT)HR2021F3 A31 BEMR - Bt
AFHHEEEMRAERSI  BERZ
TEHEIERIRL -
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15. PAYMENTS FOR LIFE INSURANCE 15. XI=ks

In November 2017, the Group paid premium for a life
insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to insure Ms.
Cheung, a director of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy,
the beneficiary and policy holder is the Group. At inception
of the Insurance Policy, the Group paid a gross premium of
HK$6,500,000 by two instalments of HK$3,250,000 each. The
Group can terminate the Insurance Policy at any time and can
receive cash at the date of termination based on the account
value of the Insurance Policy, which is determined as the gross
premium paid with the accrued returns (as further details set
out below) after netting of the charges (including a surrender
charge if the termination of the Insurance Policy is within the
first policy year), if any, in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Insurance Policy.

The Group shall receive returns (with guaranteed minimum
return at rates of 3.75%, 3% and 2% per annum for the
first policy year, second policy year and third to tenth policy
years, respectively) during the effective period of the Insurance
Policy. The directors of the Company have no intention to
terminate the Insurance Policy within 12 months after the end
of each of the reporting periods and, therefore, the amounts
were classified as non-current assets as at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

The payments for life insurance were carried at amortised cost
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Details of impairment assessment of payments for life
insurance are set out in note 31.

R2017F 118 - AEERSHRERE([R
B)IHRE  UEBEARARESRLZLR
# o IRIBERE  SRARREFEAAER
S8 - RREFGBRF  AEES>MBH
HA3,250,0007% 7T 37 1+ 48 1R & 6,500,000 7%
JC o ANEBE AR AR HRE - WA 4R IE
AHRBERENEFPEBRIIRSE @ %k
FEAETIRBRENERRIEEE T A
BRERZ(BEINNE EREFERIERE
RERIRER) (1E ) B EFT R R AR S HHY
BRIRE(FFBHN T °

2555 B8 MR B8 A8 HR P Ui B [ 2 (A 5
REFE F_RAREFERFE=ZFFT
FAREFENRERERFENES R A
3.75% * 3% N&2%) - KRB EREENS
MEHREZ12ME A AR IERE - BiltZe
PR 20204F K 202143 A31 B nE AJER

M20205E 202193318 @ INNSkE
RS ARTIER o

% (S RPN RS -
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

16. E5 K HEWFIE

CRER

BNARE

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 PAOYAC)

20215 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

Trade receivables (Note (a)) Z 5 R (s @) 50,716 41,730

Refundable rental deposits (Note (b))  AIiEEIFE %% (HIE(Db)) 677 359

Other receivables HAb BRI 528 358
Prepayments for purchase of materials B8 B M ¥t &9F8 (4 7R8I

and subcontracting fees nBE 6,637 22,046

Prepaid expenses AR 2,471 3,415

Utilities and other deposits PRAEEREMZS 207 163

61,236 68,071

Notes:

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade
receivables was HK$29,418,000 and no allowance of credit
losses was made.

Included in the refundable rental deposits as at 31 March 2021
were amounts of HK$45,000 (2020: Nil), HK$20,000 (2020:
Nil), HK$109,000 (2020: Nil) and HK$58,000 (2020: Nil) paid to
Dr. Ko, Ms. Cheung, Shing Chak Development Limited (wholly-
owned by Dr. Ko) and Milan Development Limited (wholly-
owned by Ms. Cheung). The other refundable rental deposits
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were paid to independent
landlords.

Trade receivables represent amounts receivable for work
certified after deduction of retention money.

MIEE

R201963 8318 ' AEENE 5 R
THERE{E 529,418,000/ T M I (= B &5
BHEE -

R2021F3A318 Al REASEESBIE
SREAFEEL - RME - BIBEERE
ERAT(HSEL2EHE) ROKEE
BERAR (RKRZEE2EHE)45000
770 (20204F © £&) ~ 20,0007 7t (2020
&) - 109,000/ 7T (20204F : ) K
58,000/ 70 (20204F : &) » R2021F &
20203 A3 1B EMAIREIASZE S X
NFBILEE -

B 5 R FREEIRRE SR ERE &

A&k

==

EHE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits for
customers. Recoverability of the amounts due from existing
customers is reviewed by the directors of the Company
regularly.

The Group allows generally a credit period of 7 to 90 days to
its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables of
the Group presented based on dates of work certified by
architects, surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers, that approximate to the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period.

16. EZ R HMEWFRIE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

N I £ =]=} 1/ RVAN= - iy =y s
fr = 5 B4 KT 3

BER
FE 1 FRIE ()

REREMFHELR - AEESFTME
EPFHNEEEETRAIBZEPHEERE -
BUWIREXF SRR A U & i AR )
EE TG o

A&

i

—RETHEFTEORNEEH -

TXREPMEEMNRER  AEMRE
fRENRERRZESETRAH(REE
SRS ) 27N A KE R Z RUTIER
BRI DA

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T
0 to 30 days 0£30K 33,684 35,935
31 to 90 days 31290K 12,842 2,774
91 to 180 days 91%& 180K - 1,469
Above 180 days 180K E 4,821 1,552
51,347 41,730
Less: Allowance of credit losses B EEEERE (631) -
50,716 41,730

As at 31 March 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balances are debtors with aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$4,821,000 (2020: HK$3,021,000) which are past due 90
days or more as at the reporting date and is not considered
as in default because these customers are in the process of
internal settlement procedures that the management of the
Group has acknowledged and approved the extended credit
period.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and refundable rental deposits are set out in note
31.

M2021F3A318 » ~XEEE 5 EWRFIE
4 eR B TR AR BRTE € 58 4,821,0007% 70 (2020
£ 13,021,000 70 ) 2 FEHGRIA © 5% F N
AR E BT BHA0KR A EBTHR
BEY  RESEBSFEEETADLE
HiRF ASEETEECRATIATR
SEH -

BHMEMEWFIENANRATIROESES
ERUERHE R IE BN M3 -
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract assets as at 1
April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 amounting
to HK$70,923,000, HK$115,150,000 and HK$158,630,000.
respectively, represent the Group’s rights to considerations
from customers for the provision of E&M engineering services,
which arise when: (i) the Group completed the relevant
services under such contracts but yet certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the customers;
and (ii) the customers withheld certain certified amounts
payable to the Group as retention money (i.e. retention
receivables) to secure the due performance of the contracts.

The Group's contract assets are analysed as follows:

17. GREERER

201954818 ~ 202043 A31H %2021
FIANAMNAEB SN EENRAMES
51470,923,000% 7T + 115,150,000/ 70 &
158,630,000/87T * IEAREBIBLIRHKET
BREMEEFWERENET - Z5#
MR TBEREE - VAEBREBEZES
HERBFHEBREENRERFEE
ROFESERD - RIEMEMRERREN : &
(VB REANEEEMNMNE TIERIEE
AREG(EKRES) WERZAERE
1TEH) °

AEBNENEESNAT

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Provision of E&M engineering services BILRREREE 160,198 115,150
Less: Allowance of credit losses B EEEERE (1,568) -
158,630 115,150

The retention receivables included in contract assets are to be
settled at the end of the reporting period as follows:

BREERNBKRRE SR EE RS
RN

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Within one year —FR 23,526 26,833
After one year —F1& 42,354 28,858
65,880 55,691
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (293) =
65,587 55,691




17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(continued)

Included in the carrying amounts of contract assets of the
Group were contract assets (including retention receivables)
aggregating to HK$12,038,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$9,109,000) which are related to the same contract of
contract liabilities and are accounted for and presented on a
net basis on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The increases in contract assets during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020 were mainly due to: (i) the increases
in retention receivables as a result of increases in number of
ongoing and completed contracts under the defects liability
period during the years; and (i) changes in the size of contract
works that the relevant services were completed but yet been
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers at the end of the reporting
periods.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out
in note 31.

Contract liabilities as at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2021 amounting to HK$3,773,000, HK$11,327,000
and HK$14,265,000 represent the Group's obligation to
transfer of E&M engineering services to customers for which
the Group has received advance payments from the customers.

Contract liabilities as at 1 April 2019 and 2020 have been
recognised as revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2021 respectively.

The increases in contract liabilities during the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020 were mainly due to advances by
customers for certain new projects at initial stage at the end of
the reporting periods.

BREEZERERAT 2021558

17. EHNEERBE®

MR2021F3A31H » AEEMNEHNEERN
FHEREAVEE(BEEKRES)S
+£12,038,00078 £ (20204 : 9,109,0007%
T RE—EHAEE DR ERE F Sk
MERIRFEEARRET] -

HE 20214 20203 A31 B IEFEH
BHEEZMDEBHEN : (VETHER
RIEPHARNE TKE OEERRFE N
EHEWRE S R()EBIREE 5T
BRABRIRE R AEREETHESE
B R ERMSk MR ERZBHELHTER
REE -

BRBEMNRENSFHITENHES

201954818 ~ 202043 A31H %2021
FIHNBMENEESRIR3,773,000%
JC * 11,327,000/ 7T K% 14,265,000 7T -
BAEBBHETEREEETAEBRD
NEFPUEMBNKENETE 2 BT -

MR2019FE K 2020F4H1BHAHNEARBE D
BN B ZE 20204 202143 A31 B ILEE
R AU -

HE2021F K%20205E3A31BHIEFEMNEA
HEBEINTESHRN ARG RET
TR B RIRRE R E BB -
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18.

19.

PLEDGED BANK BALANCES, BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's pledged bank balances
were fixed deposits with a bank that carried interest at fixed
rates ranging from 0.08% to 0.11% per annum (2020: fixed
rates ranging from 0.97% to 1.05% per annum) and were
secured for the grant of performance bonds to the Group by
the bank. Included in pledged bank balances amounting to
HK$15,186,000 (2020: HK$49,677,000), which were related
to performance bonds to be expired after one year from the
end of the reporting period and was, therefore, classified as
non-current at the end of the reporting period. Further details
are set out in note 25.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank balances and cash
did not include any fixed deposits with banks. Included in the
Group's bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2020 were
fixed deposits with banks aggregating to HK$80,002,000
which carried interest at fixed rates ranging from 0.37% to
0.80% per annum.

The other bank balances carried interest at prevailing market
interest rate at 0.001% (2020: 0.001%) as at 31 March 2021.

TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS

18.

19.

CRPRITARR - MITHERK
BE

R2021F3H31H8 » AEERHSEBRIT
ERABRITETEHEN  RETFHNEN
F0.08% £ 0.11% (20204 : & F FF| =
NTF097%E1.05% ) 5T B E FEITHA
AEBRENBEARZSIERR - BER
IR 1T A5 #4271 15,186,00078 7T (20204F :
49,677,000/ 70) B 1A B TREHAIR —F 1%
EmRBEARESER AR sRE R
DEERIERE o #E— TFEIBEERNWE25 ©

M2021F3H318 - AEERRITER K
& W BIEEARITEE T 12020
F3A318  AEBEMRTEHR LRSS
¥54 £ 5 480,002,0008 ST HER 1T B E1F
K EIRETFE FFE0.37%E0.80%:T & °

R2021F3H31H » EMRITE8%REIT
THISFER0.001% (20204F : 0.001% )58 ©

B S BARIBRENRE SN
KEERTE M

As at 31 March

M3H31R
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B S e FRIA 59,914 26,485
Retention payables ENRES 12,564 14,646
Accruals FEETER 8,205 7,768
80,683 48,899

Included in the Group’s trade and retention payables as at 31
March 2021 are amounts due to related parties amounting to
HK$2,380,000 (2020: HK$3,121,000), in aggregate, which are
trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable according
to the relevant agreements.

R2021%F3 8318 ' AEBE 5 EMZK
HEEMRESRIEEMNBE HES
12,380,000 7T (20204 : 3,121,000/%5
TL)  REFIEAESME  ERE 28
NIERIER R EER -
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TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables of the
Group based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

BREEEZERERAR

/ A

REHERm

e &2 A =1 FH 4

20215 53R

B HE SRR EE

19. B 5 BARER B RE S

AT ARBREMRAEEE S ENKIAR

HZEAHRRRE DT

As at 31 March

M3HA31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
0 to 30 days 0E30K 55,285 21,334
31 to 90 days 31&E90K 4,629 5,151
59,914 26,485

The credit period of trade payables granted by the Group’s
suppliers are usually within 30 days.

The Group usually retains 5% to 10% of each interim
payment to its subcontractors providing services to the Group
as retention payables. According to the relevant contracts
with these subcontractors, 50% of the retention payables is
usually released upon handing over of the residential units
to respective owners by the developers for residential units
projects and completion of services under contracts for other
projects, with the remaining 50% of the retention payables
to be released after six months of the first payment of the
retention payables. The retention payables of the Group are to
be settled at the end of the reporting period as follows:

MASEEEFRHNESEMNFBEER
HBER30KA °

AERBRERAARKERERENS
REFEF AN KN5%E10% EREN
REE - REEZFD EENEBEL
50% M ENRESBEMEEEMIAR %
REASECSELINTEHER ARTKE
IR A & WM REEE - MER T50% M fE
AR E 38  BR SN R R E 2 1% /<
HRBREE - RBREHRAKEEN RES
MR

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Within six months NME A A 997 250
Within a period of more than six months 7~1E A LA BB iE —FHIA

but not exceeding one year 1,688 7,092

Within a period of more than one year —#F A FHI 9,879 7,304

12,564 14,646
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20. BANK BORROWINGS 20. RITER
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Trust receipts, secured SFEUUE - B 10,000 -
Bank loans, secured RITER - BEA 15,022 433
25,022 483
According to the relevant bank facilities letters, the bank BIERABERITHE G - AEBEMIRITE
borrowings of the Group are payable as follows: FERLT -

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Within one year —FA 24,815 136
Within a period of more than one year —%F A HENBBRF R

but not exceeding two years 145 140
Within a period of more than two years R A B NBBAFEHR

but not exceeding five years 62 207

25,022 483




20. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group's trust receipts and bank loans as at 31 March
2021 (2020: a bank loan) were lent by a bank under its bank
facilities granted to the Group. The bank facilities were secured
by the Group’s carpark space and corporate guarantee given
by the Company (2020: personal guarantees given by Dr. Ko
and Ms. Cheung in favour of the bank, their certain properties,
the Group’s carpark space and payments for life insurance).

Notwithstanding the provisions stated in the aforesaid
bank facilities, the bank may at any time without prior
notice, modify, cancel or suspend the banking facilities,
at the sole discretion of such bank; including, without
limitation, cancelling any unutilised facilities and declaring
any outstanding amount to be immediately due and payable.
Accordingly, the above trust receipts and bank loans were
classified as current liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Included in the bank loans as at 31 March 2021 was a bank
loan of HK$347,000 (2020: HK$483,000), which bore variable
interest rate at 2% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate
quoted by the relevant bank (2020: variable interest rate at
2% per annum below Hong Kong Prime Rate quoted by the
relevant bank). The remaining bank loan as at 31 March 2021
bore variable interest rate at 1.5% per annum above one-
month Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate.

BREEZERERAT 2021558

20. BITER@

AE B A202143 A31 B W5 UE K 3R
1TER(2020%F : $RITER) o —MHRTT
BEERTAEENRITMEMGL © 8R17
BMEUANEENEELNRARRRERND
¥ER(2020%F : UBELERERLZTUUR
TAXmAREBHEAER HENET
M - FENETYE  AKBERNEEN
M AEMme ) (BRI -

BE LMRITRES|RAHE - IRITAIBER
BREMBABLBATHERBE « BUS
SEEIRITRE - BIEETRABUEEM
REARERSHEMRREESEINED
B FER o HI - 7320214F K 202043 A
310« Eil{EsE BB RIRITERD AR
BALE -

MR2021F3 A31BMIRITERBIE—HIR
1TE 347,000/ 7T (20204F : 483,000/
TT) BRI RE S REEF RR
2%HF BN R R (20204F - IRABRASRITRT
HEBZEEFNRE2%EFR)ZE -
M2021F3 831 BR#B TIRITERIZE S
BT RAERE—ER ZFEHF R 5%

B o
i
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES 21. HEERE
As at 31 March
MA3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET T
Non-current IERE 1,410 1,205
Current RED 2,847 1,583
4,257 2,788
Maturity analysis FHB S

As at 31 March

MA3A31A
2021 2020
2021%F 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Within one year —&FR 2,847 1,583
Within a period of more than one year —%F A BTN BIBRF R
but not exceeding two years 1,163 802
Within a period of more than two years R BTN BBAFER
but not exceeding five years 247 403
4,257 2,788
The Group does not expose to a significant liquidity risk with NEEN EEEREEEREEENERNR
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored PEcRER  HEBERAEENTER

within the Group's treasury function. BENEEHE ©
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A 2 2= 2 g . 141 I 52

SHARE CAPITAL 22. R#&

Details of movements of share capital of the Company are as AARRARZ BBFIBEWT:

follows:

Number of
shares HK$'000
R EE FAT
Ordinary shares with par value FAREEO.01E TR
of HK$0.01 each: AR
As at 1 April 2019 R2019F4 A1 H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised BB INEERA
share capital under the
Reorganisation (i) 9,962,000,000 99,620

As at 31 March 2020 and 2021 20204 &

20213 H31H 10,000,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares, issued BT NER TR

and fully paid:
As at 1 April 2019 7R2019F4 18 200 —*
Issue of ordinary shares of R EEIT

the Company pursuant to AT E R

the Share Offer (i) 200,000,000 2,000
Capitalisation Issue BEARETT (iif) 599,999,800 6,000
As at 31 March 2020 and 2021 20204 &

2021%3H31H 800,000,000 8,000

& Amount less than HK$1,000 S EET,0008 7T

Notes: Ff3E

() On 18 September 2019, pursuant to the written resolution ()  H2019F9F18H ' RIEALQ AIATME —
of the then sole shareholder of the Company, the authorised BRANEERZER - AR RIFEBREINEG
share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 £%9,962,000,000 A% & A& E {E0.01 B 7T &Y
divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company of AR - A EDEE IR AN E#3380,0007% 7T
HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 (9 %38,000,000% & A 7] =A% FI{E0.01
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each by the 78 7T B9 3 3 AR ) 38 51 & 100,000,000 7% 7T
creation of an additional 9,962,000,000 new ordinary shares of (% %£10,000,000,000 4% A5 2 7] &A% E E
par value of HK$0.01 each. 0.01# TR ERAR)

(i) On 18 October 2019, 200,000,000 ordinary shares with par (i) H2019%F10H18H + 200,000,000 A2
value of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at a price A REE0.01E T T ilmARIE & A%0.73
of HK$0.73 per share by way of public offer and placing of the BITHERET AXAALHEERRE
Company’s ordinary shares (the “Share Offer"). AATEmER(TROBE]D -

@iy~ On 18 October 2019, the Company effected the capitalisation (i)  F2019F 108188 + KA ABAAQ A
of an amount of HK$5,999,998 standing to the credit of the ARG EEMRRO EERTHESE
share premium account of the Company as a result of the Share 7%5,999,998 B L ERRFER A E AN
Offer and to appropriate such amount as to capital to pay up WiKZERBRETEARANZEEHR
in full, at par, 599,999,800 ordinary shares of the Company of 599,999,800% N A A G AR EI1H0.01 5 7T
HK$0.01 each for allotment and issue to the shareholders of R BARAR SR - LARR20196F10 A 18 B M)
the Company on 18 October 2019, each ranking pari passu in RRERRRELEE R 1T - ARG EAR
all respects with the then existing issued ordinary shares of the AERNREERTTEREMEAES

Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”). ZERS M ([EREET]) -
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7\ 1 # fuf=] AN = =By sy
br = B 5+ HH/ >

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets BRI B A =

23. EERIE

As at 31 March

MA3A31H
2021

2020
20204F
HK$'000
FETT

20214
HK$’000
FET

363 -

The movements in deferred tax assets during both years:

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020

REAEEE - BERIBEEEZSHNT -
ECL allowance Total
FHEE
BERE et
HK$’000
FATT

HK$'000
THET

20194 A1H &20209F3A31H = =

Credit to profit or loss (Note 10) REzET A MEE10) 363 363
At 31 March 2021 720213 A31H 363 363

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 18 September 2019,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme is valid and
effective for a period commencing from 18 September 2019
and ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 18
October 2019. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to provide an incentive or reward for the grantees for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company to any full-time or part-time
employees, consultants or potential employees, consultants,
executives or officers (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents, advisers who, in the sole opinion of the board of
directors of the Company, has contributed or will contribute to
the Group and whom the board of directors of the Company
may in its absolute discretion select and subject to such
conditions as it may think fit.

24. ERHETE

RIER2019F9 A18H B AN EZMIRZ
= AR R —IEE R ERE ([ BRE
sHEl)) - BRRERTEI82019F9 A 18H
a2 B A M R AR - WEE2019F 104
18B AR RBRMAE R LT HAFIEE
m o BT E 2 B R EE S SRE AR
A REBF{EZ ERSOBTERRE ©

RIEBREAR  ARAESSARIER
AR RS EAL TN B R R E AT 2Bt
BER  HMAREEREER  FAA 1T
BABS=SERE (BEHITES - AT
EENEFTESR)  RARRESE
E2ERARELIERAEEELERAE
AIHER - TP - AAA - RERERMA
RARREZE2EPNBRERNTAHREA
FEZATETARBARR BB ZE
Pt -



24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time. The total number of ordinary shares of
the Company which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the ordinary shares in issue as
at the date of passing of the relevant resolution adopting the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any twelve-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
14 days after the date of the offer, upon the Company
received the duplicate offer document comprising acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee together with
the consideration of HK$1.00. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determined by the directors of the
Company, save that such period shall not be more than ten
years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject
to the provisions for early termination as set out in the Share
Option Scheme.

Unless otherwise determined by the board of directors of the
Company at its absolute discretion, there is no requirement of
a minimum period for which an option must be held before an
option can be exercised. In addition, there is no performance
target which must be achieved before any of the options can
be exercised.

BREEZERERAT 2021558

24. BRRRERTE )

PR IR BB AR AE AT B R AN &8 B R 49 10 (E fr] &
BT EIE BB ERFITENE A
TERREETFER A RERITHRD RS
HE  AETERBALRTEEETYE
BRAE30% » RIRIEE IR R A
SEREMEMBRETISIB FRENAME
PR TR ] TR REBITH AR A
LBRAE - AT SHRBRNERE
SMAEAERBAE BB BT ERRD
10% ° JMTFARABES - ZFETHRABK
FTERER  RFSEMBEAZBRE
AREEBARNTBLIENTESIE -
gEAN - A+ =@ A SEE T A AR E
BRBRBIYIFANITES © kST E
EAZEMERE - EEAREEBREAR
NEIDBEITEBIRN0.1% » MEAEA
BEE BB EBRERARZ AT
TERU T ERTE ) HE5,000,0007% 7T -
BEENRBEAD FEREBE -

BHEREZZNATNEZHABHRI4P
A RARBREBOXHRIN(ER R
EBEAERARE ZBRAERZ A ) ER
1008 T2 REBRES - IR LBREZ
TEHEEARRESERE - HBREMAE
BREREZNEREATSERTF A
BRI P IR ATAR LIRS R EFTARIR ©

FRIFBANRIEZS2RMBEE - BRI
I 4 AR E P AR ] T AT AT AR5 B B Ak
MR HIR - Ubsh - TREEAREARE R T
TEAAEBNRERER
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24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

25.

The exercise price of the share options is determined by the
board of directors of the Company, but in any event shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the ordinary
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on the date of the offer of the share
options, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the ordinary shares of the company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares.

No option was granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme since its effective date on 18
September 2019 and there was no outstanding share option as
at 31 March 2020 and 2021.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2021, performance bonds of HK$83,587,000
(2020: HK$49,972,000) were given by banks in favour of the
Group's customers as security for the due performance and
observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customers. If
the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to its
customers to whom performance guarantees have been
given, such customers may demand the banks to pay to them
the sum or sum stipulated in such demand. The Group will
become liable to compensate such banks accordingly. The
performance guarantees will be released upon completion of
the E&M engineering services.

Included in the performance bonds as at 31 March 2021 were
HK$57,442,000 (2020: HK$49,972,000), which were issued
under the bank facilities granted by a bank to the Group and
such bank facilities were secured by the Group’s pledged
bank balances (note 18) and corporate guarantee given by the
Company in favour of the bank. The remaining performance
bonds as at 31 March 2021 were issued under the bank
facilities granted by another bank to the Group and such
bank facilities were secured by the Group’s carpark space and
corporate guarantee given by the Company in favour of the
bank (2020: secured by personal guarantees given by Dr. Ko
and Ms. Cheung in favour of the bank, their certain properties,
the Group’s carpark space and payments for life insurance).

24. BRRRERTE )

25.

BREZITEEHARAESTSET @
BERNAAZELRATZRSE  ()XE
BEZHABH(B/LER )BT HE R
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NAE B CHEE °
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O 4 1 R AT RO BB A o

B AR ER

M 202143 A 31 H -+ 83,587,000 % T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 26.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows (used in) from financing activities.

4N~ oA 1 IN) St o= T =
e = FEFRHSN 1 (B TT 4

BMETBREERENYER

TRALARERERDMELRBENE
B ERASKIIFREEY - WEEDM
EFARERBRAMNAKREGERETRE
ROBRBERD (MR MBHREREN
Ren8ARALRE

Interest Lease Bank Accrued  Dividend
payable liabilities loans issue costs payable Total
FEt
EMFE HEAE SRTEX BOAX  EGRE #@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T T THT THT
1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H - 2,066 1,459 306 - 3,831
Cash changes: He &) :
Interest paid BAFE (24) (108) = = = (132)
Repayments of bank loan ~ BEHFTE = = (976) = = (976)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAE - (1,548) = = = (1,548)
Issue costs paid BETHA = = = (16,626) = (16,626)
Non-cash changes: I
Finance costs recognised BRI BRA 24 108 - - = 132
Issue costs accrued JEETEATAAR = = = 16,320 = 16,320
Additions of lease contracts  JERHAEA X
(Note 27) (Btsr27) - 2,270 - - - 2,270
At 31 March 2020 72020F3A31H - 2,788 483 - - 3271
Cash changes: Bk
Interest paid BHFIE (33) (142) - - = (175)
Repayments of bank loans ~ EER{TEFR = = (1,461) = = (1,461)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEREEE = (3.141) = = = (3,141)
New bank loan raised FESRTER - - 16,000 - - 16,000
Dividend paid BRRE - - - - (25,600)  (25,600)
Non-cash changes: Flaiy
Finance costs recognised BRI BHA 33 142 = = = 175
Additions of lease contracts  EFFEA L)
(Note 27) (B#5r27) - 4,610 - - - 4,610

Dividend declared (Note 11) BB ERE (FiizF11) - -

- - 25,600 25,600

At 31 March 2021 F202163 4318 = 4,257

15,022 - - 19,279
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27.

28.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered
into rental agreements that increases its right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities by HK$4,610,000 (2020: HK$2,270,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme which is registered
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the rates specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF
Scheme, there will not be any forfeited contribution available
to reduce the contribution payable by the Group.

The Group's retirement benefit scheme contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss as set out in
note 8 represent contributions payable to the funds by the
Group at the rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

27.

28.

FEIRERS

HE2021F3A31HILFE - AEBFM
MO SINEFERAREEREEERE
4,610,000/ 7T (20204F : 2,270,000/ 7T) °

RIKERETE

AEBEE IMARERBIMERESFTEERD
ERHMELAEEEERECHRE ST
g - BESENEEBIUNAKENE
B DRBIUZFEAEHOESES - R
BERESFTENAR - BRERERHEAS
BIRMANFTRNLE KA EIHR - AKE
BRRESAENEREERRIEAEIE
AR HR - RIFBRESRE  $1€F
EER KA B A KB B IRE
R -

anH 8P E - AR EEBES A &M IEH
BRABNE IR KB BETMER - HE
RASEIZEERAGTANL ZRAESE
EIEEK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Other than the transactions and balances with related
parties disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties during the year:

o~ L = =T A

29. B ARG
BT 3R % L 254 5 T Y B2

@) B&A
B 25 R A -
EEBB AN TRS

AEERAF

Year ended 31 March

BZE3831HLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAET
()  Subcontracting charges paid to Shun ()  [AREZ R IRAA] 7132 8,943
Tat Air Conditioning Engineering (—FAXEE AR
Company, a company controlled by B EHIeRE)
a grandson of the uncle of Dr. Ko I BE
(i) Subcontracting charges and (i) MBREEEEMTENF 931 811
information technology (—AxaELTs
maintenance service fees paid to st VN
Yuk Shing Advertising & Decoration IR BEREMEH
Engineering Co., a company BERBE
controlled by a brother of Dr. Ko
(iiiy Purchases of construction materials (i) SR ELER QA 171 171
from Mibuka Denki Electrical (—AZEE TG
Controls Limited, a company NAE)EEEEMH
controlled by Dr. Ko
(iv) Purchases of construction materials ~ (iv) [FIEHZAEFBER AT 16,362 14,945
from Chit Shing Air Conditioning (—HAZ =B TR
Trading Limited, a company B EHIE A R])
controlled by a grandson of the EEEEME
uncle of Dr. Ko
(v) Staff costs paid to employees who are (v)  M{EE(BELHETFR 3,302 2,875
a nephew and a niece of Dr. Ko and B RERLTHE -
brothers, a brother-in-law, a nephew AR BTREL)
and nieces of Ms. Cheung B IAA
(vi) Amounts paid to Shing Chak Vi) MHEERERAR
Development Limited, a company (—HEaEEL2EHEN
wholly-owned by Dr. Ko (Note 1) DA (HIRET)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEEREZHERX 28 1
— Lease liabilities —HERE 573 158
(vii) Amounts paid to Milan Development — (vi)  [FIKBEZEE AR A A
Limited, a company wholly-owned (—MmRL T2 EHEN
by Ms. Cheung (Note 2) D)) ATFRIE (i EE2)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEEREZHERE 15 1
— Lease liabilities -HEaE 306 84
(viii) Amounts paid to Dr. Ko (Note 3) (vii) =ETZARIEFEI)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEEREZHERX 4 =
— Lease liabilities —HERE 63 =
(ix) Amounts paid to Ms. Cheung (Note 4) (ix) MR FFIE(KTE4)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEEEZHERX 2 =
— Lease liabilities —HERE 28 =
The above transactions were conducted in accordance bt 32 55 T AR 4% 48 B 1R 5 ) R B

with the terms of the relevant agreements.

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A 4
lee=y =)=

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

(continued)

Notes:

M

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$689,000 (2020:
Nil) and the carrying amount of the lease liabilities was
HK$698,000 (2020: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$367,000 (2020:
Nil) and the carrying amount of the lease liabilities was
HK$372,000 (2020: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$454,000 (2020:
Nil) and the carrying amount of the lease liabilities was
HK$456,000 (2020: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the
relevant right-of-use assets was HK$202,000 (2020:
Nil) and the carrying amount of the lease liabilities was
HK$203,000 (2020: Nil).

Compensation of key management

pers

onnel

Compensation of key management personnel represents
the remuneration of the directors of the Company and
senior management of the Group during the year were as
follows:

AR B A5 ERaR B AE

29. BB ARZ @)

(a)

(b)

(%)
BRE -

R202143A31H @ HHEEREE
E 2 BRI B /4 689,0007% 7T (2020
FR)UALHEAEZERES
698,000/ 7T (20204 : &) o

R202143A31H @ HEAFEREE
B 2 BRHE {E A& 367,0007% 7T (2020
FR)UALAEAGEZERES
372,000/ 70 (20204 : &) -

R202143F31H @ HEAFERES
2 BRI {8 A 454,000 7T (2020
F ) ULRHEABZREES
456,000/ 70 (20204 : &) o

MR202143A31H - HEAFEREE
E 2 BRI {8 4202,0007% 7T (2020
F:R)UAAEABEZEAES
203,000 7T (20204 : &)

FTEEEASRMH

TEEEABFMEAFEARRE
ERAEESREEENTM - T

AR

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A31ALLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT THET
Short-term benefits %5 HA T A 6,798 7,192
Post-employment benefits A& 72 72
6,870 7,264

As at
bank
guara

31 March 2021, the Group was granted certain
facilities which were secured by personal
ntees of Dr. Ko and Ms. Cheung (2020: personal

guarantees and certain properties of Dr. Ko and Ms.
Cheung) at nil consideration.

(9]

R202153831H » REFER L&
IRITREE - ZERITHENEREULS
B RRZ TR EAER(2020%F :
SiEETRZETMEABRRARES
A TYE)EER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B IS8R R P&

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes
20 and 21 respectively, net of pledged bank balances, bank
balances and cash disclosed in note 18, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
share premium, other reserve and retained profits.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the management of the
Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through issuance of new shares and the raise of
borrowings or repayment of existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4N~ oA 1 IN) St o= T =
e = FEFRHSN 1 (B TT 4

30. EXEREE
A EE IR E A A R B B A i
B RSB E AT R A T -
BRI E B - A5 B G B R
BRI o

AEENEAGEBEEFES (2D 5
RMFE20 R 21 HENRITERLEESR
&) - KRR EMRITER - RITEHRK
He (W18 EKEE) AR AR BIHEA A
iR (RREETRA - BiEE &
fifeki b S AR B &A1)

AEB BB B PMERSN I E AR

Eo

AEBEEEET RS EAGRE - EAL
WM —ED AREEEESERED
AR EBEAREENERR - AEEKES
BTN RERERIEERRBER T
EEREEANE -

31. €@ T A
ERTEER

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 2020

20214 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TETT
Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at amortised cost HEER AT BR M EE 302,660 228,848
Financial liabilities ERBE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEEN AT RN S mEaE 97,500 41,614
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include payments
for life insurance, trade and other receivables, refundable
rental deposits, pledged bank balances, bank balances and
cash, trade and retention payables, trust receipts and bank
loans. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

The Group’s operations expose it to a number of financial
risks: principally the interest rate risk, the credit risk and the
liquidity risk. Continuous monitoring of these risks ensures
that the Group is protected against any adverse effects of such
risks so far as it is possible and foreseeable.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances and bank loans (see notes 18
and 20, respectively, for details of these balances). Fixed bank
deposits at fixed interest rate exposed the Group of fair value
interest rate risk. The Group does not have a policy on cash
flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should need arise.

A sensitivity analysis is not presented because, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, reasonably possible change
in interest rate would not result in significant impact to the
post-tax profit of the Group.

31.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of the
Company have delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debtors. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables
and contract assets. The management of the Group performs
impairment assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate
the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective debtors. Estimated
loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information.

Impairment loss under ECL model of HK$631,000 (2020:
Nil) and HK$1,568,000 (2020: Nil) are recognised for the
Group'’s trade receivables and contract assets, respectively for
the year (2020: Nil) and an average loss rate for the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets is approximately 1.2%
and 1.0%, respectively as at 31 March 2021. Details of the
quantitative disclosure are set out below in this note.

31.

BREBZERERLT  2021FFHR

€M I BEmwm
SRS EEE B REBEE @

=B R B E TG
RAKERYF T REERTEEMEZAR
SEPBREAME - AEEAENKRAE
SRR E &AM BIRARAENEED
ERTREEMNREE

EPERELNE ZERTAREH
SEEREEERR ARAREZERIK
B BEEEEERBEREREF U
FE 4R BRER A AR R AE 17 B Yo 0 780 1 JE W R
KoM E - ARREZBAANEEN
EERREKNERZE -

AEEEBEBMBEHREERFIRHBIC
TEFERBEEER AR SRR
FEAREMNEEERE2HNEREESR -
AEEEEERFABEERRAEIE
AR BRI - BREE R HE R
W 1R (B B e W R R B AT RUE R
IEETESRKRIBERANEENE TR
HEEERSHE - At BRXDERER
RRERFHANBERRIINZOER
FIEMEEMGE - WA IEEREL TR

%%o

RAFEE  DRHERAEENE S EYK
HERAGHNEERREREEBEER
TR {EE51E 631,000/ 7T (20204 « ) &
1,568,000/8 7T (20204 : ) - M 2021
F3A31H AEEMNE S EKRFKIER
BREEMFTHEBEEREDNA12% K
1.0% ° X N AR S BEFBEFEETE
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Other receivables and refundable rental deposits

The management of the Group performs impairment
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the amount
of ECL of other receivables and refundable rental deposits
based on internal credit ratings, ageing, repayment history
and/or past due status of respective other receivables and
forward-looking information. There has been no significant
increase in credit risks of the Group’s other receivables and
refundable rental deposits. No impairment was recognised for
the Group'’s other receivables and refundable rental deposits as
at 31 March 2020 and 2021 and for the years then ended as
the 12m ECL, if any, is insignificant.

Pledged bank balances and bank balances

The management of the Group assesses that the Group’s
pledged bank balances and bank balances are at low credit
risk and no impairment was recognised as at 31 March 2020
and 2021 and for the years then ended because they are
placed with reputable banks with good external credit ratings,
and ECL, if any, is insignificant.

Payments for life insurance

The management of the Group assesses that the payments
for life insurance are at low credit risk and no impairment was
recognised as at 31 March 2020 and 2021 and for the years
then ended because the balances are due from insurance
company with good external credit rating, and ECL, if any, is
insignificant.

31. €T Hwmwm)

B E b e TE BB R BUCE (&)

1= B3 B R el B 5715 (4)

E b fEWIE R AR BT 5%
REEEREREMBEMEBEGIENN
EME BT - BRER - BB R S
AL R BT RE ME B AL - 42 (Bl FE Uk AR SR EL 2
HEITRERTAS + DA AT E b B UGRIE & 7]
RO ESTEHREEBESTE - ~A5F
MEMERRERAREASZENEER
[RBR A £ FEE L AN o 5220204F 2202143
A3MBAREEZSHHIEFEWERANE
18] L 1th B Y 5008 Ko A AR 0] FH & 3 & W RRUR
B REANREAEHEESE(WAE)E
o

BRI TAZER R IR TAS B
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4N~ oA 1 IN) St o= T =
e = FEFRHSN 1 (B TT 4

SRTHm@m
BEEMEERERBEE@®

. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

1= BB f2 R el (B 7712 (4%)

For assessment of the ECL of the Group's financial assets
and contract assets, the Group's internal credit risk grading

assessment comprises the following categories:

AT R -

RAGARENEREERANEEM
5 ARERABEERRIRFGRIE

Payments for

life insurance/
Other receivables/
Refundable rental

Internal deposits/Pledged
credit Trade receivables and  bank balances/
rating Description contract assets Bank balances
ASRBRE
Hitt kR RE,
MEERESRE
A8 EZREWRFIER BEMBITESR
EEFTR BREE SRITAEER
Level 1 The counterparty has great ability of Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
repayment, low risk of default and (not credit-impaired)
has no history of impairment loss.
F—R HFEREERNRIT - BERARIE S HIRMBEEER 128 AEREEEE
BEEREEELCH - (Y EEERIE)
Level 2 The counterparty has good ability of repayment, Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
which may be influenced by macro (not credit-impaired)
environment and economic situation.
EMR HFERERENRIT AR EBRIRER S HIRMBEEER 12 AEREEEE
RBERAZE - (Y EEERE)
Level 3 The counterparty has ability of repayment Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
but usually settles in full after due date. (not credit-impaired) (not credit-impaired)
E=M HFFAEREN  BERFRIEER FHIRMBEEER FHHEHBEEER
BHEE - (rEEERE) (W EEERE)
Level 4 The counterparty may not have ability of Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
repayment, and is evidenced to be (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)
credit-impaired.
EJUSE HFEHFRTEERE S BERBEREE FHIRMBEEER FHREREEER
HERR - (BEERE) (BEERE)
Level 5 The counterparty has no ability to repay its Amount is written off Amount is written off
debts and the receivable is not expected to be
collectable.
EhR HFAWEEREREN - HHARDE B R M SR

FEWGRIA -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A 4 o= VA ey oy e
B2 2 A5 21 pA 4 :

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. €M T Em

Financial risk management objectives and B 7S LB B 2R B A % BUR (80
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets and contract assets as at 31 March 2020 and
2021, which are subject to ECL assessment:

1= E 7B R R B S (#%)
TREFMN20205F K 202163 31 B AE
ENemMEERANEENEERR (BE
TTESHE BB ERTE) ¢

Gross carrying amount
as at 31 March
M3A31AZARESHE
12m or Internal
lifetime ECL

credit rating 2021 2020
128 A5 AER

EHEHEEEE EEFR 20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TET

Financial assets at
amortised cost:

R SRR ER)
TRIBEE
Trade receivables Lifetime ECL Level 1 26,331 14,879
=) e e (not credit-impaired) E—1
2HEHMEEESE Level 2 5,251 23,588
(WEEERE) E_MR
Level 3 19,765 3,263
E=
Other receivables Lifetime ECL Level 3 528 358
E b el FRIE (not credit-impaired) F=/R
ESara
(WEEERE)
Refundable rental 12m ECL Level 2 677 359
deposits 1218 AFEEME E 18 FH
AREIAEES
Pledged bank balances  12m ECL Level 1 57,442 70,153
BIRHIRI T4 ER 1218 ATE Bz E 518 EF—MR
Bank balances 12m ECL ‘ Level 1 186,418 109,440
IR1TEE R 12{8 ATEEiEE SR F—/
Payments for life 12m ECL ‘ Level 1 6,879 6,808
insurance 12 ATEEEEEE F—
ASRBRI K
Other item:
HmIgg :
Contract assets Lifetime ECL Level 1 89,147 69,200
EHEE (not credit-impaired) F—&
FHBREEES Level 2 27,741 40,357
(WEEERE) ER
Level 3 43,310 5,593

E=M
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4= =) 1 IN) St o= T =
e = A ZFRHY T4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. @R T AEmw)

Financial risk management objectives and MERREEBERBEK®
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =R BB (#)

Allowance for credit losses 1EEERER

During the current year, the movements in allowance for RAFE  SEIERFBEREHNEERE
credit losses that has been recognised for trade receivables RO EEEEEEESHOT -

and contract assets were as follows:

Trade Contract

receivables assets
BEZEW

MIE ERHEE

Not credit- Not credit-

impaired impaired

(Lifetime (Lifetime
ECL) ECL)
FEERE FEERE
(ZHFEH (ZHEH
FEEBR) FEFR) #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FA&7T AT

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 R2019F4 818K
202043 H31H = - -

Credit losses recognised, net of reversal B MREEEE - MKED 631 1,568 2,199
At 31 March 2021 7202193 A31H 631 1,568 2,199
The Group has concentration of credit risk because 40% of MM2021563 A31 A B ZEKFKIARE K
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2021 B EMA0% (20204 : 51%)KREREEH
(2020: 51%) were due from the Group’s top five customers. AREP  AEEEEREERR - A&
The Group's top five customers are sizeable and reputable EHAAREPAREAEERIHAR °
companies. The management of the Group closely monitors AEEEBEERYERRFPNEELES
the subsequent settlement of the customers. In this regard, e BEME  AEBEREERLSNEE
the management of the Group considers the Group's credit HEERE D REBMEE

risk is significantly reduced.
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A

(fr 5 G 7ERHY

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31. €T B

Financial risk management objectives and MEREEE B ERBEE@®
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk HEE LA

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEEMNBERBEBERER(NER)E
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of BEMHFEMEEE M 2 RER TS -
borrowings, as appropriate.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual TRFMBRBEBAEL,HEOERE D

maturity for its financial liabilities according to the terms of the
relevant contracts/agreements. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities

AEBSRBENFGBRENITE - Z&
DB BEMNRURREREENAK
%@ﬂﬁ‘é?&x*iﬁﬁ’]?iﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁz o B
Bms - T ﬁﬁ%?ﬂiﬁ%ﬂm—f
% BE ﬁg/\ﬁiﬁﬂ KEBITERE
REXTRE HMETESRBENE J
HHAREHBEERABET - X8
FERACBERE °

are based on the agreed repayment dates. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted  On demand Total
average or within  Six months More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  six months  to one year one year cash flows amount
il RER ~EA AR E
Fi55= AMEAR E-f —FHE REAH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% BT TAT TAx THET TAT
As at 31 March 2021 R2021%3831H
Trade and retention BHENFER
payables FEfRES N/ATER 61,165 6,125 5,188 72,478 72,478
Trust receipts ERe: N/ATE A 10,000 - - 10,000 10,000
Bank loans - Variable rate  $#/7EF— 28 1.68 15,022 = = 15,022 15,022
86,187 6,125 5,188 97,500 97,500
Lease liabilities BERE 3.00 1,640 1,308 1,442 4,390 4,257
Asat31March2020  R2020%3831H
Trade and retention BHENFER
payables EfRES N/AT 26,735 7,092 7,304 41,131 41,131
Bank loan - Variable rate  $ATEH—% 8 3.00 483 - - 483 483
27,218 7,092 7,304 41,614 41,614

Lease liabilities HERRE 2.50 876 792 1,258 2,926 2,788
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As disclosed in note 20, the Group’s bank loans under the
banking facilities of the Group, might be immediately due
and repayable on demand by the relevant bank without prior
notice to the Group.

Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
management of the Group does not believe that it is probable
that the bank will exercise its discretionary right to demand
immediate repayment. The management of the Group
believes that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the relevant
bank facilities letters, details of which are set out in the tables
below:

31.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4N~ oA 1 IN) St o= T =
e = FEFRHSN 1 (B TT 4

SRTHm@m
BEEMEERERBEE@®

B E LA &)

WK FE20FT I EE - ANEBEEITRE THR
TER AIRESRAKELBAAEERN
1B T AR SR 1T BB 2 HA(EE -

ERIAKENMBAR - AEEEIRE
RABIRIT AR RETT{E EL B 154 B Sk B
BN - AEEEEERE  ZFRITER
IR BRI RAIRTT AL & K 1 PR A0 51 812 5K
BEMEE - FHFEN TR

Weighted  On demand Total
average or within  Six months More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  six months  to one year one year cash flows amount
il 4 RERS ~MEA AERRE
FHRIE ~NMEAR E-F —FHE REAH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR THT TR TET TET
Asat31March 2021  R202143A31H
Bank loans - Variable rate  $8{TEH —1% 8 1.67 8,144 6,800 21 15,155 15,022
As at 31 March 2020 142020%3A31R
Bank loan - Variable rate  $B{TEH —%8. 3.00 75 75 360 510 483

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

1455 58 ) 5 0 B B 75 R0 TR 45 AR B
POfEERIE - RIS RAETAT
EMSEASLRED -

THT AL FEE
AEBEEERE  WNREVBHREAE
BHERAT RN CREERERBENRR
HEEEAFERE -
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fr = GBS p

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. B A RIS
The Company has direct and indirect shareholdings of the RABME TSI B A AR EE R HEER
following subsidiaries: T

Equity interest

attributable to the
Group
AEEEGRE
As at 31 March
M3A31A
Issued and
Name of Place of Place of fully paid
subsidiary incorporation operations share capital 2021 2020  Principal activities
HE BRTR
DEAEE AR 3L it B bk BRERA  2021F 20206 EEXH
Directly held:
EERR:
Ascend Group BVI Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
Ascend Group EBEIHS BB 2B 100% 100% REER
Holdings Limited
Indirectly held:
BERA
Chit Tat Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of E&M
engineering services
e BE &R 5,000,000/ 7T 100% 100% RREEETRRG
Accel Innovations  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - Sales and production
Limited (Note) of disinfection spray
equipment and
accessories
BREREBRRR  BE BE 10,000/ 7T 100% - HERBREREMN
(P3E) HSHE REE
Accel Development  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive
Limited (Note)
B ERR BB &R 1,000,000/ 100% - EEEX
BERR M)
Note: These subsidiaries were incorporated during the year. MisE : S ZEM B A RN AEE AL -
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during RARFE » WEHBARDEITEMERE
the year. B o
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33. RQ TR RE
DA B AR R R

. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position of the
Company

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHBRARMRE 77,266 77,266
Due from a subsidiary FEU —FEIFfT /8 A B 5RIE = 60,000
77,266 137,266

Current assets REEE
Due from a subsidiary FEU —FEIFfT /8 A B 5RIE 158,904 50,345
Prepayments TEfFRIA 344 172
Bank balances and cash IRITEBREIRE 3,598 46,239
162,846 96,756
Current liabilities RBaE

Accruals BT E R 916 -
916 -
Net current assets REEETRE 161,930 96,756
Net assets EEFE 239,196 234,022

Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital i &N 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note) e (B =E) 231,196 226,022
Total equity R 239,196 234,022
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N =0 =y ) SH o ] o=
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33. RDQ TR TR @
KD BB AR R TR @

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Statement of Financial Position of the

Company (continued)
Note:

The reserves of the Company are as follows:

Wi

RABREHIIMT

(Accumulated

losses)
Share Retained
premium profits Total
(R5tE58)
B A7 18 REBEF ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2019 20194818 77,266 (11,531) 65,735
Issue of ordinary shares RIRRR (DB E 2T
of the Company pursuant FN/NET R ]S
to the Share Offer 144,000 = 144,000
Capitalisation Issue AR BT (6,000) = (6,000)
Share issue expenses AR EEI TR (19,660) - (19,660)
Profit and total comprehensive F R A &2
income for the year ] = 41,947 41,947
At 31 March 2020 7202093 A31H 195,606 30,416 226,022
Profit and total comprehensive FRHEN R EE
income for the year Tt - 30,774 30,774
Final dividend declared (Note 11) B EIRABRE (PHEE11) - (25,600) (25,600)
At 31 March 2021 F20214F3 4318 195,606 35,590 231,196
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